# Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

LBL Publications

Title

X-ray Tomography Applied to Electrochemical Devices and Electrocatalysis

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1w4547bv

Journal

Chemical Reviews, 123(16)

ISSN

0009-2665

Authors

Lang, Jack T Kulkarni, Devashish Foster, Collin W <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2023-08-23

DOI

10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00873

Peer reviewed



pubs.acs.org/CR

Review

# X-ray Tomography Applied to Electrochemical Devices and Electrocatalysis

Published as part of the Chemical Reviews virtual special issue "Operando and In Situ Studies in Catalysis and Electrocatalysis".

Jack T. Lang, Devashish Kulkarni, Collin W. Foster, Ying Huang, Mitchell A. Sepe, Sirivatch Shimpalee, Dilworth Y. Parkinson,\* and Iryna V. Zenyuk\*



**ABSTRACT:** X-ray computed tomography (CT) is a nondestructive three-dimensional (3D) imaging technique used for studying morphological properties of porous and nonporous materials. In the field of electrocatalysis, X-ray CT is mainly used to quantify the morphology of electrodes and extract information such as porosity, tortuosity, pore-size distribution, and other relevant properties. For electrochemical systems such as fuel cells, electrolyzers, and redox flow batteries, X-ray CT gives the ability to study evolution of critical features of interest in ex situ, in situ, and operando environments. These include catalyst degradation, interface evolution under real conditions, formation of new phases (water and oxygen), and dynamics of transport processes. These studies enable more efficient device and electrode designs that will ultimately contribute to widespread decarbonization efforts.



# CONTENTS

1. Introduction	9881
1.1. Overview	9881
1.2. Motivation for Using X-ray CT for Electro- catalysis and Electrochemical Device Stud-	
ies	9882
2. Techniques Available	9883
2.1. Overview of Micro- and Nano-CT, Optics,	
Phase vs Absorption	9883
2.1.1. Attenuation Contrast	9883
2.1.2. Phase Contrast	9884
2.1.3. Radiation Damage	9884
2.2. Instrumentation	9885
2.2.1. Source	9885
2.2.2. X-ray Optics	9885
2.2.3. Sample Control and Environments	9886
2.2.4. Detection	9886
3. General Aspects for Technique and Image	
Processing	9887
3.1. Reconstruction	9887
3.1.1. Normalization	9887
3.1.2. Phase Retrieval	9887
3.1.3. Tomographic Reconstruction	9887
3.1.4. Center of Rotation and Image Align-	
ment	9888
3.1.5. Artifact Reduction	9888
3.2. Image Processing	9888

3.3. Segmentation	9890
3.4. Quantitative Information	9891
4. Applications of X-ray CT to In Situ and Operando	
Studies in Electrocatalysis	9891
4.1. Overview of Nano-CT Beamlines	9891
4.2. In Situ Studies	9892
4.2.1. From Ex Situ to In Situ	9892
4.2.2. X-ray CT Used for Catalyst Synthesis	
Studies	9892
4.2.3. Combination with Other Techniques	9894
4.3. Operando Studies	9894
4.3.1. Fuel Cell Studies	9894
4.3.2. Electrolyzer Studies	9897
4.3.3. CO <sub>2</sub> Reduction Reaction Studies	9899
4.3.4. Redox Flow Battery Studies	9899
4.3.5. Mathematical Modeling Using X-ray CT	
Imaging	9902
5. Summary and Future Directions	9903
5.1. Summary of Findings for X-ray CT	9903
5.2. Future Methods	9904

Received: December 14, 2022 Published: August 14, 2023





© 2023 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society

Author Information	9905
Corresponding Authors	9905
Authors	9905
Author Contributions	9905
Notes	9905
Biographies	9905
Acknowledgments	9906
References	9906

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. Overview

The global movement toward positive climate action by widespread decarbonization efforts have spurred the growth and adoption of renewable energy power generation. Consequently, the market for electrochemical energy conversion devices has increased significantly and future projections have shown highly optimistic trends for market penetration.<sup>1-3</sup> Technologies such as fuel cells and batteries have already been used commercially for transportation applications and have proven to be extremely versatile and reliable. Additionally, electrochemical power-to-gas conversion technologies, like electrolyzers for hydrogen production and carbon dioxide reduction, are paving new pathways to offset fossil fuel use in industrial feedstocks in hard to decarbonize sectors like metal refining, chemical manufacturing, and aviation.<sup>4-6</sup> Reducing costs and increasing the efficiencies of these technologies are important for meeting policy targets and to enable faster commercialization. In general, these technologies often use porous media and precious metal catalysts for multiscale species transport and to facilitate electrochemical reactions. Understanding the underlying mechanisms of electrocatalysis, transport phenomena, and failure mechanisms is critical for designing vital components and interfaces for electrochemical devices.<sup>7</sup> Hence, micro- and nano-scale imaging techniques are needed to capture these mechanisms with minimal system perturbations.

X-ray CT is a nondestructive 3D technique that was initially developed for medical imaging but is now extensively used in materials science and scientific imaging due to radical technical advances in the past 20 years.<sup>8–10</sup> X-ray CT was first invented around 1970 and was largely used for medical research until the early 2000s. Since then, the number of publications on its use in other fields has increased exponentially. Out of these, general engineering, materials science, chemical engineering, chemistry, and energy are the top five fields thanks to the technical advances in lab scale and synchrotron X-ray instrumentation and data processing. With the development of synchrotron X-ray CT beamlines and advanced image processing pipelines, it is now possible to achieve tens of nanometers scale spatial and sub-second temporal resolution to reconstruct 3-D volumes with thousands of images collected with a 180-degree rotation of a sample on the stage.<sup>11</sup>

X-ray CT is a versatile tool, as it spans various time and length scales of imaging. High-resolution 3-D imaging is useful for small samples or specified regions of interest (ROIs) from large samples. Low-resolution X-ray CT can be used to study samples of larger sizes or in a high throughput mode. There is always a trade-off between the spatial resolution and the field of view (FOV), since it is necessary to resolve a feature within the acceptable limits of the signal-to-noise ratio.<sup>12</sup> Figure 1a shows different imaging techniques with their spatial resolution plotted against the FOV. Micro- and nano-CT are two main techniques with micro and nanoscale spatial resolutions available for X-ray CT. Micro-CT can have a FOV from 0.1 cm to several centimeters, but nano-CT has a much smaller FOV ranging from tens of micrometers to below 1 mm. Based on the spatial resolution, micro- and nano-CT instruments can have different X-ray optics or detectors. A typical synchrotron micro-CT and nano-CT beamline schematics are shown in Figure 1b. X-rays are guided by a monochromator and mirrors to reach the sample on the rotating stage. After the X-rays pass through the sample, they are collected by the detector. To reach nanoscale resolution, various optical elements are added along the beam path for nano-CT beamline, as shown by Figure 1b. These include a beam-shaping condenser, zone plate, and sometimes a phase ring.

In more advanced modes, X-ray CT can be used to track dynamic physical and chemical phenomena under various operando environments stimulating temperature, pressure, chemical, or electrochemical reactions in a 4-D imaging regime considering time as the fourth dimension.<sup>13,14</sup> This 4-D time lapse imaging can be used to corroborate multiphysics and mathematical modeling predictions with substantial accuracy. The time resolution of the X-ray CT technique varies depending on the beamline. Currently, the TOMCAT beamline at Paul Scherer Institute, Switzerland can achieve subsecond scans with high accuracy.<sup>15–18</sup> For operando studies, a synchronization of stage rotation with a slip-ring for tubing and wires needs to be achieved, which is not available on most micro-CT beamlines. Alternatively, millisecond imaging resolution is widely available at synchrotron facilities for radiography studies, where 2D imaging instead of 3D imaging is performed.<sup>19</sup>

Depending on the distance of the sample from the detector or use of optics such as phase rings, X-ray CT can be conducted in absorption or phase contrast mode, depending on the type of information needed for the sample imaged. The absorption contrast mode produces image contrast based on the degree of X-ray absorption by a material and is most suitable when the sample under investigation has two or more phases having different attenuation coefficients that can be distinguished easily during image processing. Phase contrast imaging uses phase separation in diffracted X-ray beams and is suited when the sample has different phases having relatively close attenuation coefficients (densities or thicknesses) and visualizing phase boundaries is of relevance. This method is especially valuable for soft materials, such as carbons or oxides, where the difference between carbon, oxides, other soft materials, and air or other gas will be difficult to detect in absorption mode. Both of these modes can be used in conjunction to circumvent the drawbacks of individual modes and enhance visibility of features of interest. For example, Komini Babu et al.<sup>20</sup> used the results of the two modes to resolve the active material and the carbon binder phase in a lithium-ion battery cathode.

Furthermore, X-ray CT can also operate with diffraction mode (XRD), fluorescence mode (XRF), and X-ray absorption near edge spectroscopy (XANES) depending on type of instrumentation, thus giving combined information on the spatial morphology and chemical nature of the system under study.<sup>21,22</sup> XRD provides crystallographic, structural information on the material, as well as presence of specific phases. XRF provides information about the relative amount of different elements present in the sample. XANES provides information



**Figure 1.** (a) Spatial resolution against field of view (FOV) for various imaging techniques relevant for studying electrochemical devices. Adapted with permission from ref 12. Copyright 2020 IOP Publishing under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). (b) Schematic of typical synchrotron micro- and nano-CT beamlines showing X-ray generation and optics. The distance between the scintillator and the sample can be varied based on either absorption contrast or phase contrast imaging. Beamline optics like the zone plates and optical lenses can be changed based on imaging needs.

about oxidation state, geometry, and electronic configuration of the absorber element. Advances in phase retrieval algorithms make it possible to combine these ptychography techniques with X-ray imaging, thus making it possible to study features much smaller than the spatial resolution.<sup>23,24</sup>

Once a sample has been imaged through X-ray CT, it needs to be processed and analyzed to retrieve the data. This process involves image segmentation, thresholding, and computationally restructuring 2D image slices into 3D structures.<sup>11</sup> A commonly used program to perform image thresholding for analysis is FIJI or ImageJ.<sup>25</sup> Important physical properties, such as porosity, pore size distribution, and tortuosity, can be measured using image analysis tools. Fluid flow characteristics, such as fluid permeability, can also be extracted using X-ray CT.

# 1.2. Motivation for Using X-ray CT for Electrocatalysis and Electrochemical Device Studies

X-ray CT is an ideal tool for studying electrochemical devices owing to its versatility and the quality of data obtained.<sup>14</sup> Here, we first review several competing techniques, focusing on their application in electrocatalysis and electrochemical devices. Many imaging techniques, such as focused ion beam scanning electron microscopy (FIB-SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), and neutron imaging, have been used to study electrochemical devices. However, the quality and type of information obtained with electron techniques vary substantially. As shown by Figure 1a, techniques like SEM and TEM can resolve sub-nanometer features, but the limiting FOV is of the order of tens of nm to 1  $\mu$ m. In electrochemical devices, these techniques can give insight into the catalyst or electrode morphology, but it is sometimes of interest to observe multi-scale transport phenomenon in operating devices to understand the underlying physics. Furthermore, SEM and TEM techniques have limited in situ environments and mostly do not allow operando environments due to difficulties of sample-holder designs.

With neutron imaging, the neutrons are able to penetrate metals more easily than X-rays and provide high contrast for lighter weight elements which can be helpful for electrochemical in situ studies.<sup>26</sup> Generally electrochemical devices, such as fuel cells, must be modified very little to be adopted for neutron imaging. Therefore, operando sample holder design is generally not an issue in the field. This imaging technique, however, can be limited by the time of scan and its overall lower resolution than X-rays. Normally, neutron imaging is done in radiography mode because full neutron CT measurements need either hours long exposure times or a resolution that is too low to capture finer details found in the inner layers of the electrochemical cell.<sup>27</sup>

X-ray CT is perhaps the only technique that can be implemented in 3D for real devices (operando), nonintrusively within reasonable time scales. Electron-based techniques have limited depth of penetration and cannot be used on operando devices and are mostly used in idealized in situ environments. As already discussed, neutrons can be competitive with X-rays for studies of water and other H-containing molecules, but their time scales are still prohibitively long for tomography studies. X-ray CT is therefore an ideal tool for operando and time-resolved studies. In the field of electrochemical studies, Xray CT is used to gather structural and catalyst performance related data with ex situ, in situ, and operando studies.<sup>7,14</sup> Here we will focus mostly on in situ and operando works, and where they are not available, ex situ studies will be reviewed. In situ refers to the studies that involve conditions of practical catalytic operation, whereas operando studies are those that use in situ conditions for the catalyst while also collecting data on the catalyst performance.<sup>28'</sup> Special cell designs are necessary for operando tests so that the area of interest is sufficiently transparent to X-rays and can be viewed fully by the X-rays from the synchrotron beam. A 4D imaging regime (whether transient study or chemical study) can be used to show how the structure of certain materials is linked to the electrochemical performance.<sup>7,14</sup> In situ and operando studies are particularly helpful for the electrocatalysts used in fuel cells, electrolyzers, and redox flow batteries. Catalysts are important to study, as many of the limiting factors in electrochemical devices are due to poor reaction kinetics, and understanding electrocatalysts using various in situ techniques can improve device performance and efficiency.

X-ray CT can also investigate transport phenomena like water management in a fuel cell, fuel cell reactivity, and electrode degradation.<sup>29,30</sup> This review looks into studies of water management in the gas diffusion layers (GDLs) inside fuel cells, as water flooding is one of the major issues for fuel cells operating at low temperatures. Understanding water transport pathways in porous catalyst layers and GDLs can enable better designs of these components. Material degradation during fuel cell operation is one of the most important areas in the field of fuel cells.<sup>31</sup> Specifically, platinum catalyst dissolution, carbon corrosion, and GDL wettability loss are some of the issues that prevent longevity of fuel cells.<sup>32</sup> Applying X-ray CT to electrochemical cell studies can help understand cell degradation mechanisms and help mitigate cell degradation and failure through better component design.<sup>14</sup> As for redox flow batteries, the performance and characteristics of the porous electrodes as well as the effects of fluid flow and electrode liquid saturation are the main focuses for operando studies.<sup>33–35</sup> Electrodes need to be designed to provide surface area for the reactions but also the necessary porosity for convective and capillary fluid flow. X-ray CT can allow quantification of electrode surface area as well as its morphological properties, and the data can be fed into computational models to extract fluid properties such as permeability. This review details studies related to the fluid flow through porous electrodes and the performance and material characteristics of the electrodes in relevant electrochemical systems.

For water electrolyzers, catalyst layers, interfaces, and the porous transport layer (PTL) morphology can be characterized. One of the challenges for water electrolyzers is reducing precious metal (iridium oxide (IrOx)) loadings without compromising performance and durability. To do so,

one must design better interfaces and PTLs. PTLs serve many purposes: water delivery to the catalyst layer, removal of product gas, and thermal and electronic transport.<sup>36</sup> X-ray CT can provide a view of the inner structure of a PTL that can then be analyzed to give quantitative data to characterize the PTL structure and correlate it to the oxygen distribution from the operando data. Porosity, pore size distribution, and tortuosity are morphological quantities that control mass transport properties and performance at high current densities for a PTL. Electrolyzers can also be used to carry out carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  reduction reactions. For the  $CO_2$  reduction electrolyzers, the gas diffusion electrodes (GDEs) are integral to having the gaseous CO<sub>2</sub> to be able to flow to the catalyst layer to react.<sup>37</sup> GDEs allow for more catalyst stability and a triple phase interface between electrolyte, catalyst layer, and product gas.<sup>37</sup> X-ray CT can allow researchers to view and track catalyst particles, ionomers, and water transport inside the GDEs.<sup>38</sup> Accelerated stress tests and operando studies can be applied with X-ray CT used along the testing protocol to measure GDE degradation mechanisms as well.<sup>38</sup> These techniques can help improve electrode design and the CO<sub>2</sub> reduction electrolyzer performance.

This review will first provide an overview of X-ray CT techniques and associated X-ray CT setups, optics, and outline physics of X-ray transmission and absorption, as well as phase contrast. Image processing and data analysis are critical parts of the technique, and we provide an overview of common methodologies for 3D image reconstruction, visualization, and data quantification. Micro-CT is more broadly available in laboratories and at synchrotrons, whereas nano-CT techniques are more rare. Here we provide an overview of several X-ray nano-CT beamlines and an overview of their capabilities. Next, the review focuses on in situ studies and progresses toward operando studies. Specific technologies that are reviewed in this article include polymer electrolyte fuel cells, proton exchange membrane water electrolyzers, CO2 reduction reaction electrolyzers, and redox flow batteries. Lastly, we briefly discuss how the data from X-ray CT can be used for multiscale computational models and conclude the review with an outlook and perspective.

## 2. TECHNIQUES AVAILABLE

# 2.1. Overview of Micro- and Nano-CT, Optics, Phase vs Absorption

The complex refractive index of a material, n, describes how both the phase and the intensity of light will be affected when passing through it:

$$n = 1 - \delta + i\beta \tag{1}$$

The imaginary component  $\beta$  describes the attenuation (absorption), and the real component  $\delta$  describes the phase shift (refraction). Both components contribute to the resulting X-ray images, but depending on the material and the instrument settings, either attenuation or phase contrast might have the dominant contribution to the image.

**2.1.1. Attenuation Contrast.** For absorption contrast imaging, the intensity measured at each pixel of the image is described by the line integral of the attenuation from the materials through which the beam passes, according to the Beer–Lambert law:

$$I = I_0 e^{-ux} \tag{2}$$



**Figure 2.** An example of equivalent resulting intensity *I*, if the beam passes through 0.5 mm of Cu, 40 mm of C, or 63 mm of Li. Reprinted with permission from ref 39. Copyright 2015 American Roentgen Ray Society.

where  $I_0$  is the incident intensity of light, u is the linear attenuation coefficient (which is related to the imaginary part,  $\beta$ , of the index of refraction), and *x* is the path length through a given material. Because the attenuation depends on both the linear attenuation coefficient and the path length, a 2D image at a single wavelength is often insufficient to distinguish materials. Figure 2 shows an example of the equivalent intensity of the beam that passes through three materials of different densities and thicknesses; in each of the cases, the same attenuation is measured. Because Li is the lightest (Z =3), the X-ray intensity from 63 mm of Li will be similar to that of 0.5 mm of Cu. However, because the attenuation coefficient of materials is wavelength-dependent and varies differently for each material, a series of 2D images at a series of different Xray wavelengths could be used to identify and distinguish materials more fully. This use of imaging over multiple wavelengths is often referred to as X-ray absorption near edge structure (XANES) imaging, which can sometimes differentiate chemical states as well as different materials. The equivalent intensity problem shown in Figure 2 is also a major motivation for collecting tomography data rather than only 2D data-tomographic reconstruction allows quantitative reconstruction of X-ray linear absorption coefficients within a 3D volume.

2.1.2. Phase Contrast. Although the detectors used for Xray imaging do not directly measure the beam's phase shift, phase contrast images can be acquired by transforming the phase shifts generated by the sample into variations in intensity that can be recorded. Propagation-based imaging is the simplest and most common approach to phase contrast imaging. In this mode, the distance from the sample to the detector is increased (and in some cases varied), which allows the radiation refracted by the sample to interfere with the unchanged beam. It is common to use this method with a propagation distance set such that the most obvious effect of the phase contrast is edge enhancement, where structural boundaries of the sample are highlighted, as shown by Figure 3. Propagation-based phase contrast can only be achieved with X-ray sources that have high lateral coherence, which in general is only available at synchrotron sources which have bright X-ray beams (with small source size and high angular collimation).

Phase-contrast imaging is commonly used in the electrochemical community, as many of the imaged materials are soft and cannot be distinguished with absorption contrast imaging. For example, Figure 4 shows a practical example of a sulfur electrode deposited on a current collector (NWC) and combined with a carbon-binder domain (CBD). From



Figure 3. An example of a propagation-based imaging, where depending on the detector position (distance away from the sample imaged), more pronounced phase contrast can be achieved. The arrows in panels b and c indicate the detector's position is moving from the initial position in panel a.

absorption contrast imaging (Figure 4b left), the X-ray absorption of sulfur, carbon, and NWC is very similar, and it is not possible to distinguish these three phases. However, in the phase contrast imaging (Figure 4b right), sulfur shows up brighter and can be segmented easier. Both absorption and phase contrast are combined onto the image shown by Figure 4c. In this image, both sulfur, CBD, as well as current collector can be segmented, and from this image a 3D reconstruction is built as shown by Figure 4a.

2.1.3. Radiation Damage. X-ray imaging is often referred to as "non-destructive". While this is true in many cases, it is not always the case, and the effects of radiation damage must be considered. This is especially true when imaging at higher resolutions. For example, the dose required to image a sample at a given resolution scales with the fourth power of the voxel size, meaning that a significantly higher dose is required, for example, to image a sample in a nano-CT vs a micro-CT instrument.<sup>41</sup> The effects of radiation damage are highly dependent on both the sample and a number of experimental and instrumentation factors. Even cell operation history plays a role in the extent of the radiation damage experienced from exposure to the beam.<sup>42</sup> Studies into the effects of synchrotron radiation on the materials being imaged have been completed to report how X-ray imaging affects materials and cells in operation.<sup>42-44</sup> These studies are helpful for identifying which materials may suffer more radiation damage than others and possible degradation mechanisms from radiation damage. Of the materials present in electrochemical cells, the ones that are most susceptible to radiation damage are the softer, organic materials like polymers and ionomers.<sup>44</sup> One important

Review



**Figure 4.** (a) 3D view of a sulfur electrode on NWC. The carbon-binder domain (CBD) is only partially present to show the sulfur phase distribution. (b) X-ray tomogram showing absorption contrast (left side) versus phase contrast (right side). (c) Segmented image. Sulfur is depicted in white, the CBD in light gray, and the fibers of the NWC in dark gray. Reprinted with permission from ref 40. Copyright 2015 Springer Nature.

mechanism of degradation that was identified was decomposition of the ionomer in the catalyst layer which led to a decrease in catalyst layer utilization.<sup>42,43</sup> Under certain operating conditions, such as OCV for a fuel cell, the performance loss from radiation damage can be recoverable; however, this is not the case for every operating condition that may be employed on a beamline.<sup>42</sup> It is important to be aware of the possible effects of radiation damage because exposure times on the order of hundreds of seconds can lead to adverse effects on cell materials.<sup>43</sup>

#### 2.2. Instrumentation

Schematic diagram for a micro-CT beamline endstation is shown in Figure 5. The main sections are the X-ray source, X-



**Figure 5.** Synchrotron X-ray CT Beamline 8.3.2 endstation at the Advanced Light Source. Adapted with permission from ref 47. Copyright 2016 Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers

ray optics, sample control and environment, and detection system. Figure 6a shows photographs of the Kapton window through which X-rays come to the beamline hutch, and Figure 6b shows the rotating beamline stage and detector at ALS 8.3.2 X-ray CT beamline.<sup>45,46</sup>

**2.2.1. Source.** Synchrotrons produce extremely bright X-ray beams, which enable higher resolution and higher speed scans for nano- and micro-CT experiments than what is



Figure 6. Synchrotron Instrumentation at the Advanced Light Source at Beamline 8.3.2. (a) X-ray photon source. (b) Rotating sample stand and detector system.

available with standard X-ray sources. The X-rays are generated when electrons in the synchrotron storage ring pass through magnetic fields, and the X-ray beams are directed toward "beamlines" with end stations that have the remaining instrumentation needed for CT experiments. Some beamlines have bending magnet sources, which produce X-rays that cover a wide continuous spectrum of wavelengths. Other beamlines have insertion device sources, such as undulators, which consist of a complex array of small magnets that generate a much brighter beam with X-rays concentrated at certain energies, which can be adjusted by adjusting the gap between rows of magnets.

**2.2.2.** X-ray Optics. In many micro-CT beamlines, the main X-ray optics are part of a monochromator, which allows selection of a particular range of wavelengths. Different monochromators have different "bandpass", which sets the trade-off between the energy resolution and the flux transmitted through the monochromator. Some beamlines use multilayer mirror monochromators with a relatively large bandpass (the range of wavelengths that pass through for a given setting), while others use Sill1 crystal monochromators, which give a smaller bandpass that can be useful for XANES spectral imaging experiments. Many bending magnet beamlines also have a "white beam" mode in which the monochromator is moved out of the way to allow the full spectrum of X-rays to pass through the sample and detector. In some cases, transmission filters or a mirror are used in white



Figure 7. An example of how sodium iodide crystal works as a scintillator.<sup>48</sup>

beam mode, which can modify the X-ray spectrum. For example, filters can be used to harden the beam by preferentially absorbing longer wavelength ("softer") X-rays. In some beamlines, additional optics known as compound refractive lenses are used to slightly focus the beam, which yields a larger flux in a given area, allowing for higher speed scans in cases where a larger beam size is not needed.

The resolution at most micro-CT beamlines is limited by the wavelength of visible light (produced by scintillators) to a few hundred nanometers. Figure 7 shows an example of a sodium iodide scintillator and how it transforms X-rays into visible light. When X-rays hit the scintillator, the photons are given off, creating visible light. These photons then strike a thin metal photocathode and continue on to enter the photomultiplier tube (PMT). There, photons hit the photocathode and electrons are ejected. These ejected electrons are then accelerated by an applied voltage to a high energy, and they hit a number of other loose electrons. The signal is multiplied by a factor of a million by the time it reaches the measuring device. For nano-CT, to achieve the higher resolution available at these beamlines, additional X-ray optics are required. These include a condenser optic (either a capillary tube or a zone plate) and an imaging zone plate, and there are often additional focusing mirrors and slits in the beamline to prepare the beam for these optics. In standard transmission X-ray microscopes, the resolution when using a zone plate lens is limited by the width of the outermost zone. In most cases, this is in the range of tens of nanometers. Because hard X-rays require zone plates that are microns in thickness, these zone plates have extremely high aspect ratios and are challenging to fabricate.

Some beamlines have developed a scanning microscopy method called ptychography which uses a lower-resolution zone plate combined with collecting diffraction patterns at a series of positions and performing data processing in a way that they are able to collect images with resolutions better than the limit of the zone plate resolution.<sup>49–51</sup>

An alternative approach to achieve nanoscale resolution is to focus the beam to a small spot with, for example, Kirkpatrick–Baez (K–B) mirrors, place the sample after the focus spot (in a region where the beam is expanding in size), and place the detector at a distance back which allows the image to be magnified (this gives phase images).<sup>52,53</sup> For phase imaging in nano-CT, phase ring optics are utilized in fuel-cell applications for materials with especially low Z-numbers.<sup>54–58</sup> For micro-CT, gratings and other optics are sometimes used to accomplish phase imaging.<sup>58,59</sup>

**2.2.3. Sample Control and Environments.** The sample stage stack can generally be moved to position the sample (or a portion of the sample) in the beam and can then rotate the sample during a scan. Because of the high flux available at synchrotrons and the high speed of detectors available, most beamlines collect scans in a mode known as a continuous, fly, or flying scan. In this mode, the sample is continuously rotated at a constant speed, while images are collected.

To achieve resolution in a 3D reconstruction that matches the resolution available in a 2D image, stability is critical. In some cases, stages are available that position the sample accurately throughout the scan to within the resolution element. However, in some nanoimaging instruments, the sample position is not controlled to within the resolution, and in these cases an additional image processing step is required in which the images are aligned to a common frame of reference and the undesired shifts and rotations are removed.

Doing in situ experiments that require sample environments leads to challenges for the sample positioning system. Sample environments often lead to increased weight, which increases the challenge of finding sample positioning stages that can handle both the positioning accuracy and weight. In addition, sample environments (described in a later section) often require electrical, liquid, and gas flow, and the supply lines for these components can interfere with the rotation of the sample and in many cases can lead to the lack of accurate positioning of the sample throughout a scan. To allow the use of sample environments and minimize the problems of supply line interference, in many cases, electrical and hydraulic slip-rings are used below or above the sample.

**2.2.4. Detection.** Detection is most commonly performed with a scintillator and a visible light detector. The scintillator absorbs X-rays and emits visible light, which is imaged with a visible light microscope and detector, as shown by Figure 6. Many beamlines currently use CMOS detectors because they allow high-speed readout. These detectors generally have pixel sizes of 6  $\mu$ m or smaller, and so optical microscope objectives with magnifications between  $1 \times$  and  $40 \times$  yield effective pixel sizes between ~5  $\mu$ m and ~100 nm. Higher-magnification lenses generally have a smaller depth of focus, which sets the limit of the thickness of the scintillator. Scintillators with thicknesses between 5 and 200  $\mu$ m are used, and common scintillator materials include YAG (yttrium aluminum garnet), LuAG (lutetium aluminum garnet), and GGG (gadolinium gallium garnet) crystals which are doped, commonly with cerium. Scintillators are chosen to have a very high light conversion efficiency and low ghosting. In addition, they must be free of defects, scratches, and contamination because



**Figure 8.** Workflow and visualization of tomography data processed through each data space. The axes on the left correspond to the rows of images they are next to. Moving from the projection space (a) to the sinogram space (b) involves taking a single row of pixels over the entire series of angles from (a). Going from (b) to the 2D image space (c) requires reconstruction using analytical or iterative methods. Going from (c) to the 3D volume space (d) involves applying image analysis techniques onto the entire 2D image stack produced from the reconstruction techniques.

imperfections on the scintillator are a major source of artifacts in images. Microscope objective lenses are commonly used for magnification (such as Olympus or Mitutoyo lenses), but some beamlines also use custom lenses with very high numerical apertures which allow maximum light throughput and thus maximum scan speed.<sup>16</sup>

# 3. GENERAL ASPECTS FOR TECHNIQUE AND IMAGE PROCESSING

#### 3.1. Reconstruction

What is desired in computed tomography is to perform "tomographic reconstruction" to derive from the raw data the 3D distribution of attenuation coefficients in the sample.

3.1.1. Normalization. The "raw data" in a tomography scan consist of a series of projection images (often called radiographs) collected as the sample is rotated to different angles. In the simplest case of pure attenuation contrast, as described above, these images are composed by a series of pixels which represent the line integrals of the attenuation from the materials through which the beam passes. The measure of the degree of X-ray penetration into the material is described by the X-ray attenuation coefficient. Based on the Beer-Lambert law (see section 2.1), the X-ray attenuation coefficient, together with the distance of the X-ray pathway inside the material (material thickness), decides the transmitted portion of the beam (i.e., transmission) for a specific beam angle. In practice, the X-ray illumination is not perfectly uniform, so in addition to collecting these projection images measuring attenuation contrast, additional images are collected with the sample moved out of the way; these are known as flat, bright, or white fields, or background images. These allow correction for inhomogeneous X-ray illumination. A final set of images is collected with the X-ray shutters closed, often known as dark fields; this allows correction for the dark current in the detector. Multiple bright and dark field images are collected to allow them to be averaged (or combined by calculating the median) and, thus, reduce noise. The sample (S), average bright (B), and average dark (D) field images are combined to yield a percent transmission image (T):

$$T = \frac{S - D}{B - D} \tag{3}$$

**3.1.2. Phase Retrieval.** For pure attenuation contrast CT, these percent transmission images are used for subsequent steps. However, in many cases an image has contributions of both phase and attenuation.<sup>60</sup> In these cases, it may be desirable to isolate either the phase or the attenuation component of the complex index of refraction. In these cases, the "phase retrieval" process is applied to the image to separately yield the phase component (or the attenuation component) from the original measured percent transmission. The phase retrieval approach depends on the data collection approach and on which assumptions can be applied to the situation (for example, how many materials are present).<sup>61–63</sup> Similarly, applications utilizing phase retrieval have been utilized with lab-based and synchrotron sources.<sup>64,65</sup>

3.1.3. Tomographic Reconstruction. The determination of the 3D distribution of attenuation coefficients is most often done on a slice-by-slice basis. A "sinogram" is the term given to the image formed by taking a single row of pixels from the projection images over the series of angles used during a tomography scan, as shown in Figure 8. The Radon transform is the mathematical description of the relationship between a sinogram and a digital slice through the sample. In practice, there are a number of approaches which are used to generate digital slices from sinograms, and these are often divided into analytical methods (such as filtered back projection and the GridRec method<sup>66</sup>) and iterative methods such as ART, SIRT,<sup>67</sup> as well as model based iterative methods (MBIR).<sup>68,69</sup> Iterative methods are more computationally intensive but can generally yield superior results. The difference is most apparent in cases where there is undersampling, for example, when a small number of projection images are used. This might be done to speed up the scan time for an in situ experiment. There are also approaches specifically developed for phase contrast CT imaging.<sup>70,71</sup>

Several software packages are available that implement different algorithms. TomoPy is one popular package that makes various algorithms available through straightforward python wrappers. ASTRA Toolbox<sup>72</sup> is another popular

package, including through the TomoPy wrapper.<sup>73</sup> SVMBIR<sup>74</sup> is a package for MBIR.

In the past few years, machine learning approaches have also started to gain more widespread adoption. Some of these approaches have focused on, for example, denoising or upsampling either projection images or the final reconstructed images.<sup>75</sup> Others have focused on enabling higher-speed scans with fewer projections by training models based on static scans of a sample prior to beginning an in situ experiment, and then using those models during image reconstruction and recovery of the high-speed scans.<sup>76</sup>

3.1.4. Center of Rotation and Image Alignment. One of the inputs for tomographic reconstruction algorithms is the location within the image of the axis of rotation. The axis of rotation is not necessarily consistent between scans, whether due to instabilities in the equipment or changes in the setup (sample position, resolution, etc.) and so is often determined after the scan during the tomographic reconstruction process. There are a number of methods to do this automatically (for example, multiple methods in TomoPy), though in some cases these methods fail, most often due to artifacts in the images or to low sample image contrast, in which case the center of rotation is sometimes found by displaying a difference map of the projection image at  $0^{\circ}$  with a flipped version of the projection image at 180°; when the 180° image is flipped around the correct axis of rotation, the difference between the two images should be 0. Alternatively, a series of reconstructions can be carried out using different test values for the center of rotation, and the best one can be determined by a visual inspection of the reconstructed slices. Incorrect center of rotation leads to characteristic crescent patterns and streaks in reconstructions. For nano-CT, in some cases, a more complete alignment needs to be carried out to correct for jitter or drift in the sample position during a scan.

3.1.5. Artifact Reduction. A major consideration during tomographic reconstruction is artifact reduction. Some sources of artifacts are zingers (when X-rays directly hit the CMOS detector without being converted by the scintillator), distortion in the lens, shifting of the X-ray illumination, and imperfections in the scintillator, leading to ring artifacts. There are various approaches to reducing each of these, some of which are in TomoPy and some of which are available in various other packages, for example, Algotom.<sup>77</sup> In addition to artifact reduction, noise reduction can often be important. For time-resolved experiments, each scan must be short enough to achieve the desired time resolution, and in many cases, this means using exposure times or a number of angles smaller than what would be used for optimal imaging of a static sample. As shown in Figure 9, this can lead to low-contrast, higher-noise scans.

#### 3.2. Image Processing

Image processing is an essential step in extracting useful information from CT data. Here, we introduce the operations done on the imaging data set after reconstruction. Many of the image processing steps, like ring removal and denoising, have been incorporated into the reconstruction algorithm already and do not need to be done separately.<sup>78</sup> This benefits the CT users and shortens the analysis time after collecting and reconstructing the CT data. However, the processing of the reconstructed data is still necessary, and researchers need to decide what processing techniques to use based on their data



Figure 9. Mottled/low contrast scan, low spatial/high temporal resolution scan.

and needs, as there is no universal recipe because image processing is highly dependent on data under study.

The typical image processing process includes the following steps: desired view and ROI locating, contrast stretching, denoising, and image segmentation (discussed in the next section). If the data set is from in situ experiments, image registration (alignment) is essential. The procedure mentioned above is for reference, and it is expected to be changed based on the data and needs.

CT data contains three-dimensional information. A stack refers to the whole data set (a set of images), while the slice is the image shown as the main view. The data stack is demonstrated in the XYZ-coordinate system. That is to say, the view of the data slice can be shown in two-dimensions in XY, YZ, and XZ planes which is shown in Figure 10.



**Figure 10.** XYZ coordinate system and images are represented in the x-y, y-z, and x-z planes.

Reslice is a transformation for 3D imaging data sets that rearranges the data and shows another plane as the main 2D view. By reslicing the CT data stack, the data set is rotated, and thus, the main view is changed. This helps researchers find the desired view. Another benefit of this transformation is that it helps researchers locate the ROI from 3D views. When cropping the data set to make the ROI, researchers need to crop and check on at least two different views to make sure the selected ROI is the one that was intended. During this process,



Figure 11. Examples of image filters and image registration. (a) Filters commonly used in image processing such as Median and Gaussian. The number after the filter name is the radius of smoothing. The bottom row shows the line profile of the chosen area (marked by an orange rectangle). (b) An example of a scheme of image registration.

some image transformation operations such as rotation should be performed when needed.

The goal of manipulating contrast stretching is to acquire image data with better contrast. By applying the appropriate contrast stretching function, the pixels with an intensity lower than a threshold value would be darkened, while the others would be brightened. This allows one to adjust the grayscale values of the images.

The denoise command is used to remove the salt and pepper noise of the image. It usually is achieved by applying filters, including linear filters, such as mean filters, and nonlinear filters, such as median filters. This operation is performed with some extent of edge smoothing. The resulting image is less sharp than the original one, but it eliminates the salt and pepper noise. Therefore, the denoise filter must be carefully chosen. Figure 11a shows examples of the resulting image from two common filters provided, both with radius of smoothing of 2. It is also worth noticing that there are sharpening filters to highlight the transitions of the intensity inside the images.

Image registration (alignment) is a way to align multiple images based on the same or similar spatial features. For the data coming from in situ experiments, by comparing the same feature, it is expected to observe the morphological transformation that happened during the in situ experiment. The registration can be done by simply translating one image, operating both translation and rotation, and combining the above two while scaling and shearing. Some intensity-based algorithms, like the bilinear interpolator, are also available. Since in situ experiments are done with the same setup and without manually moving the samples, a simple algorithm that can perform translation and rotation should be sufficient for handling the in situ CT data. Figure 11b demonstrates one scenario in which image registration was used. An example is the data obtained in an operando experiment, showing the dendrite evolution during battery discharging. The sample was not moved by researchers during the experiment, but the data set obtained in two different timesteps was not aligned because of expansion of material during charging/discharging. For extracting the same ROI and for better observation of the evolution of the dendrites, image registration was conducted, and the images were then put in the same coordination system as shown by Figure 11b.

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 12. Scheme showing the workflow of segmenting image in (a) machine learning (using random forest model as an example) and (b) deep learning (using U-Net as an example).

A commonly used tool for analyzing CT data is ImageJ. Fiji distribution of ImageJ is an open-source software with plenty of plugins for image analysis.<sup>79</sup> Commercial CT analysis tools, including Dragonfly (Object Research Systems), AVIZO (Thermo Fisher Scientific), VG Studio (Volume Graphics), SimpleWare (Volume Graphics), etc., are also available for more convenient comprehensive analysis.

## 3.3. Segmentation

Segmentation is essential to analyzing CT data, enabling quantitative analysis. Semantic segmentation is the typical segmentation done on CT data, which labels every pixel in a cross section to a class. In this way, each phase of the samples can be extracted and separated out from the whole data set. Multiclass semantic segmentation is sometimes needed, as there might be multiple phases present within the samples.

Thresholding is the simplest way to achieve segmentation. It sets a thresholding number of the pixel values, putting all of the pixels with the value below the number into one class and the other pixels into another class. If more than two classes exist in the data, then more than one thresholding number is needed. This method might fail when the contrast between the two phases is poor and the two phases are overlapping in contrast. The simple thresholding cannot satisfy the needs of the more complex data sets. Some other traditional ways to do segmentation include watershed,<sup>80–82</sup> K-mean (clustering-based),<sup>83–85</sup> and canny (edge-detection).<sup>86–88</sup>

Machine learning is intensively used to produce high-quality segmentation X-ray CT data, which includes utilizing machine learning classifiers.<sup>89,90</sup> With the progress in the computing power, more studies took advantage of the convolutional neural networks when conducting image segmentation for X-ray CT data.<sup>91–94</sup> The methods that are built based on neural networks are referred to as deep learning. Deep learning, though a subtype of machine learning. Deep learning methods are always used to deal with larger and more complicated data sets. However, they require a high-performance GPU and expect larger amounts of labeled data as input. Typical deep learning models used in CT image segmentation are U-Net<sup>91</sup> and its

modified models.<sup>92,95,96</sup> There are many toolboxes allowing researchers to conduct segmentation with machine learning. In Figure 12, the simplified workflows of the segmentation with machine learning (using a random forest model as an example) and deep learning (using U-Net as an example) are shown.

Building a metric to evaluate the segmentation results can also be important. This helps researchers to understand the uncertainty of the quantitative analysis done on the segmentation.<sup>97–99</sup> Usually, there are four possible outcomes regarding the segmentation result of a specific class: (1) true positive, which is the pixel number of the correctly labeled pixels; (2) false positive, which is the pixel number of wrongly labeled pixels; (3) true negative, which is the pixel number of the correctly unlabeled pixels (labeled as another class); and (4) false negative, which is the pixel number of the wrongly unlabeled pixels. Most of the evaluation metrics are based on the above outcome. Recall is used to represent how successful the results are in identifying one specific class. Precision represents how pure the segmentation result is regarding one specific class. Accuracy is the correct rate of the segmentation. Intersection over union (IOU) evaluates the overlap of the ground truth (labels) and the segmented region. The equations for the above-mentioned metric are as follows:

$$recall = \frac{true \text{ positive}}{true \text{ positive } + \text{ false negative}}$$
(4)

$$precision = \frac{true \ positive}{true \ positive + \ false \ positive}$$
(5)

accuracy =

$$IOU = \frac{\text{segmentation area} \cap \text{labeled area}}{\text{segmentation area} \cup \text{labeled area}}$$
(7)

#### 3.4. Quantitative Information

The reconstructed image post processing can involve extraction of various quantifiable data of interest. For electrochemical systems involving porous media, for example, morphological properties such as porosity, tortuosity, pore size distribution, etc., are often quantities of relevance. The first step toward obtaining this quantitative information is to segment the image by applying proper threshold values manually or by using machine learning algorithms as discussed in the previous section. The subsequent accuracy of the results depends on how well the threshold is set. ImageJ is the most popular image processing software capable of extracting multitudes of information for practically all applications and data sets with a growing library of plugins that users from all over the world write and publish as open-source scripts. Other software packages for image processing include Dragonfly, which is popular for research, and VG Studio Max, which is popular for industrial applications.

For porosity measurement in three-dimensional volume, the measurement theory is illustrated in detail by Taud et al.<sup>100</sup> The porosity can be simply defined by as

$$\emptyset = \frac{V_{\rm E}}{V_{\rm T}} \tag{8}$$

where  $V_{\rm E}$  is the volume of empty space and  $V_{\rm T}$  is the total volume of the porous media. In image processing, porosity is often calculated as a function of distance from the point of measurement by calculating the area fraction of the void phase over total area per slice in the image stack.<sup>7,12,101–105</sup> Several studies have reported calculation of pore size distribution by micro X-ray CT image processing techniques.<sup>106</sup> The pore size can be defined as the diameter of the largest sphere that fits inside a 3D pore volume and contains the point  $\vec{p}$  such that

$$t(\vec{p}) = 2\max(\{r|\vec{p} \in \operatorname{sph}(\vec{x}, y) \subseteq \Omega, \vec{x} \in \Omega\})$$
(9)

where  $t(\vec{p})$  is the local thickness inside an object  $\Omega$ . sph $(\vec{x}, y)$  is the set of points inside a sphere with center  $\vec{x}$  and radius y.<sup>107,108</sup> This method can also be applied for measuring particle size distribution in an image data set obtained from various imaging techniques, for example, quantifying dendrite size and form factor in Li-ion batteries or ellipsoid factor of compressed GDLs in fuel cells.<sup>109–111</sup> Another important quantity of interest related to porous media in electrochemical devices is tortuosity. It quantifies the degree of diffusive transport resulting from convolutions of flow pathways in porous media. This information can be used to quantify mass transport resistances and relate them to system polarization curves. Tortuosity factor,  $\tau$ , can be simply defined as the ratio of the actual path length  $(L_a)$  to the Euclidean distance (L).

$$\tau = \frac{L_a}{L} \tag{10}$$

Alternatively, tortuosity is also defined as

$$\tau = \frac{\varepsilon}{D_{\rm eff}/D} = \frac{\varepsilon}{K_{\rm f}} \tag{11}$$

where  $\varepsilon$  is the porosity, D is the intrinsic diffusion coefficient,  $D_{\text{eff}}$  is the effective diffusion coefficient, and  $K_{\text{f}}$  is the formation factor. For tomography data processing, these values can be obtained with Lattice Boltzmann Method and CFD, but the simulations are often tedious and time-consuming.<sup>112</sup> The TauFactor application in Matlab is an efficient and fast

calculator for tortuosity factor from tomography data, and it is a popular choice among the community. TauFactor can analyze image volumes larger than 10<sup>8</sup> voxels on a single microprocessor core in a few hours.<sup>113</sup> These techniques have been used in alternative ways for quantifying membrane and catalyst degradation or membrane electrode assembly (MEA) cracks in fuel cells.<sup>114–117</sup> Some of the other quantitative information that can be obtained includes surface area measurements of MEAs,<sup>118,119</sup> water phase quantification in GDLs of fuel cells,<sup>111,120–122</sup> quantification of oxygen flow in PTLs of PEM water electrolyzers,<sup>123,124</sup> and estimation of electrochemically active area for PEM electrolyzer anodes by quantifying the triple phase contact area (TPCA) formulated by Kulkarni et al.<sup>101</sup>

$$\[12]{\]} \[12$$

The respective areas of the catalyst and the other two phases are obtained by thresholding separately and then measuring the area within the defined interface.

# 4. APPLICATIONS OF X-RAY CT TO IN SITU AND OPERANDO STUDIES IN ELECTROCATALYSIS

Several works<sup>14,125</sup> provided an extensive overview on nano Xray CT use for battery materials. Compared to battery studies, very few in situ and operando X-ray CT studies have been carried out for electrocatalysis applications. This is mainly because many of the questions that the field of electrocatalysis tries to answer relate mostly to the surface of the nanoparticles or other catalysts. For batteries, many of the particles are micron scale and the questions that one tries to answer relate to bulk phenomena (particle cracking, particle morphology, binder distribution, etc.). Being resolution-limited ( $\sim$ 30 nm), nano X-ray CT had limited applicability to the field of electrocatalysis. Recently, as one integrates electrocatalysts into catalyst layers and electrodes, the morphology of electrodes and uniformity of the distribution of electrocatalysts, as well as understanding the distribution of the other phases in the electrodes, gained more importance. Thus, nano-CT and in many instances even micro-CT became essential tools to answer the questions related to the morphology of the catalyst layers. In addition, many beamlines currently combine X-ray CT and other techniques, such as X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS), XRF spectroscopy, XRD, and some other techniques that allow multimodal interrogation of combined morphology, structure, and chemistry.<sup>126,1</sup>

# 4.1. Overview of Nano-CT Beamlines

Mostly nano-CT beamlines are used for electrocatalysis studies, as they have nanoscale resolution compared to the microscale resolution of micro-CT. Here, we will overview several relevant nano-CT beamlines and their capabilities for multimodal imaging and in situ/operando environments. European Synchrotron Research Facility (ESRF) beamlines ID16A<sup>128</sup> and ID16B<sup>129</sup> are nano-CT beamlines. ID16A Nano-Imaging beamline combines nano-CT and XRF.<sup>126</sup> It allows for phase-contrast imaging, enabling imaging of soft materials, and it operates at higher energies of 17–33.6 keV with resolution of 30 nm.<sup>126</sup> ID16B Nano-Analysis beamline combines nano-CT with XRF, XRD, and XAS techniques and

allows for in situ and operando sample environments.<sup>127</sup> The energy range of 6–65 keV and beam size of 50 nm allows for various imaging modes.<sup>127</sup> However, the X-ray CT mode is limited to several selected energies. The main advantages for electrochemical technologies and electrocatalysis of these beamlines are that they operate at higher energies, lowering damage to soft materials. At higher energies, less X-ray absorption occurs, meaning less beam damage is done to soft materials.

NSLS II 18-ID<sup>130</sup> full field X-ray imaging (FXI) features an energy range of 5-11 keV and a very fast imaging time of about 1 min per scan, achieving a spatial resolution of 30 nm.<sup>131</sup> This beamline also allows for 2D and 3D XANES, in addition to transmission X-ray microscopy (TXM).<sup>131</sup> The beamline currently does not have the capability for phase-contrast imaging. In situ cells that are stationed at this beamline include electrochemical testing and hot cells.

APS 32-ID<sup>132</sup> full field imaging and transmission X-ray microscopy supports two experimental stations: 32-ID-B and 32-ID-C. 32-ID-C is designed to be a high-speed microscopy beamline with 2D imaging.<sup>133,134</sup> 32-ID-B features phase-contrast at 8 keV energy, 30 nm resolution, and has also XANES technique capabilities.<sup>134</sup> The imaging time is a bit slower than that of the NSLS II 18-ID. The beamline also has in situ electrochemical and hot cell capabilities.

SSRL  $6-2c^{135}$  beamline supports nano-CT and XAS. The resolution is 30 nm, and a variable energy range can be selected from 2.36 to 17.5 keV.<sup>136</sup> The beamline features only the absorption mode and has various in situ environments, including electrochemical cells, gas cells, and hot cells.

SPring-8 Beamline 20XU<sup>137</sup> operates in energy range of 15– 37.7 keV and has a resolution of 75–100 nm.<sup>138</sup> This highenergy beamline combines both micro- and nano-CT capabilities and has a scan-time for nano-CT of 30–60 min.<sup>138</sup>

# 4.2. In Situ Studies

In situ studies are performed to collect data for catalyst behavior in conditions that are similar to actual operation conditions.<sup>28</sup> These studies are helpful to understand how catalysts and other materials will behave in the cell for which they are designed and how their structure is affected by use. Some techniques for these kinds of tests involve preparation steps ex situ before measurements are taken in situ. In situ tests are helpful for catalyst synthesis, because porosity, pore size distribution, and tortuosity are very important parameters for catalysts that can be measured with X-ray CT. X-ray CT can also be combined with other imaging techniques, so that more focused data can be gathered.

**4.2.1. From Ex Situ to In Situ.** Several studies mapped ionomer distribution in the catalyst layer using heavy staining elements, such as cesium.<sup>139–141</sup> This method works well for materials or catalyst layers where there are no other heavy elements present, as Cs will be the most absorbing element in the structure. However, many of the electrocatalysts are heavy elements, such as Pt or Ir, and the X-ray absorption from Cs and from these elements can give similar contrast. As shown in Figure 13, Normile et al.<sup>141</sup> used pre- and post-Pt edge to map ionomer stained with Cs and Pt distributions within the catalyst layer. This simple two-energy imaging allows us to differentiate the two elements. It can be done only at the beamlines, as currently, commercial nano-CT scanners do not have more than one anode and thus operate only at one monochromatic energy.





**Figure 13.** Examples of Cs-ion staining of ionomer for ionomer visualization of the catalyst layer within fuel cells. (a) Contrast difference for PGM-free catalyst layers with and without Cs-ion exchanging of ionomer. Adapted with permission from ref 139. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society. (b) Optical properties of Pt, Cs, and C over the energy range available at 6-2 beamline at SSRL. Normalized X-ray intensity decreases of Pt, Cs, and C in absorption contrast. (c) Cross section tomography image of Pt, ionomer, and carbon. Adapted with permission from ref 141. Copyright 2019 Elsevier.

For electrolyzer catalysts, mostly ex situ work has been done using tomography. Leonard et al.<sup>102</sup> has shown 3D distribution of IrOx within the catalyst layer, showing significant agglomeration of large particles. Zaccarine et al.<sup>142</sup> used various characterization techniques including 2D TXM mosaic maps to show Ir and IrO<sub>2</sub> distribution within the proton exchange membrane water electrolyzer catalyst layer, combined with XANES maps available at SSRL 6-2 beamline.

4.2.2. X-ray CT Used for Catalyst Synthesis Studies. Electrocatalysts are at the heart of many electrochemical devices including fuel cells, electrolyzers, redox flow batteries, and others. Under acidic conditions, when proton exchange membrane (PEM) is used, many of the transition metal catalysts are unstable, and PEM-based devices rely on precious group metal (PGM) catalysts, such as platinum, iridium/ iridium oxide, and ruthenium. The design space for these electrocatalysts includes an increase of surface area because the reactions are heterogeneous; they take place at the catalystelectrolyte interface. Another factor to investigate is the catalyst activity. An increase in their activity can occur through shape-control or alloying.<sup>143,144</sup> Another strategy is to use atomically dispersed catalysts, such as Fe-N-C catalysts for ORR that showed significant promise for catalyzing various reactions.<sup>145,146</sup> The process of synthesis for Fe-N-C is challenging, including mixing of iron salts, nitrogen-rich precursors, and solvents to heat treat the mixture at high temperatures to form a carbon network and to disperse iron atomically to form catalyst sites. Studies determine the temperature profile and final synthesis temperature empirically,



Figure 14. In situ furnace system for CT. (a) The structure of the high-temperature environmental cell used in micro-CT experiment. (b) Scheme of the system for high-temperature micro-CT. (c) Furnace setup for high-temperature nano-CT experiment. Panels a and b adapted with permission from ref 153. Copyright 2018 Cambridge University Press. Panel c adapted with permission from ref 154. Copyright 2021 Elsevier.



**Figure 15.** In situ X-ray CT data during pyrolysis leading to M–N–C catalysts. (a) micro-CT showing the transformation from the precursors (mixture of nitrogen-containing charge transfer organic salt, transition iron salt, and amorphous silica powder) to M–N–C materials during pyrolysis. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. Adapted with permission from ref 154. Copyright 2021 Elsevier. (b) micro-CT showing the transformation from the M–N–C materials to the state-of-the-art catalysts during pyrolysis. Adapted with permission from ref 162. Copyright 2022 Elsevier. (c) nano-CT showing the transformation from the precursors (mixture of nitrogen-containing charge transfer organic salt, transition iron salt, and amorphous silica powder) to M–N–C materials during pyrolysis. Scale bar for cross-sectional images: 5  $\mu$ m. Adapted with permission from ref 154. Copyright 2021 Elsevier.

while correlations between process synthesis parameters and the final activity of catalysts is not well-understood.<sup>147,148</sup> X-ray CT can be used to address some of the questions related to the catalyst synthesis process, including morphological changes, material transformations, and other phenomena.

Pyrolysis is the most common method to synthesize catalysts. Through high temperatures, atomic bonds rearrange, new ligands form, some materials evaporate, and the elements might redistribute. All these changes would be reflected in the morphology of the final sample.<sup>149–152</sup> For these pyrolysis experiments, the furnace must be able to control the temperature accurately. Also, the design of the furnace must be fitted for both the heating experiments and the CT experiments. It must include an X-ray transparent window to allow for data to be collected. The samples must be inside the atmosphere for most of the pyrolysis experiments. Thus, the

gas must be able to flow in and out. For micro-CT experiments of pyrolysis of catalysts, the samples were mounted on the top of a ceramic holder which was placed inside a quartz tube as shown in Figure 14a.<sup>153</sup> The gas can be purged inside this quartz tube, as shown in the schematic of Figure 14b.<sup>153</sup> The quartz tube was mounted in an airtight seal onto a base. The holder and tube were placed on a rotating stage. The top part of the holder and the tube were enveloped by a furnace, so that the samples can be heated.<sup>153</sup> It is worth noting that there could not be any intense movement of the samples during the scanning. The movement might cause the rotating center to be unfindable, which renders the data reconstruction difficult or unable to be completed. This is a very strict requirement for nano-CT, since a light movement at the bottom can translate to an intense movement at the top where the sample is mounted. For the in situ nano-CT experiments, the materials were mounted on the top of a graphite pin as shown in Figure 14c.<sup>154</sup> The reason for using the graphite pin is because the graphite has a low thermal expansion coefficient at high temperatures, so the movement of the samples can be reduced. The pin was mounted on a high-accuracy air-bearing rotary stage. The furnace enveloped the top part of the pin, and the gas was flowed in and out through the furnace. To avoid thermal fluctuations, a preheat tubing segment was used to heat the gas entering the furnace;<sup>154</sup> thus, the movement caused by heating was further limited during the pyrolysis.

Morphological properties, including surface area, porosity, and tortuosity, are critical to catalysts in an electrochemical device.<sup>155–157</sup> These properties are related to the diffusion and dissolution of the reactants and products inside the catalysts' structures. The morphological properties of operating devices can be linked to the electrochemical performance, and many studies have done so.<sup>29,158–161</sup> Though useful, more attention is needed to improve the catalyst design and synthesis. Observations of the transformation of how catalysts are formed, especially from the morphological perspective, are essential for the rational design of the catalyst materials.

The setups mentioned above were used to study the pyrolysis process from which precursors are transformed to metal-nitrogen-carbon (M-N-C) catalysts via in situ micro-CT and nano-CT. The micro-CT provided transformation information on the catalysts as bulk materials. From the in situ data, the pathway formation and the porosity changes with the temperature increasing can be monitored as seen in Figure 15a. With the 3D information provided by the micro-CT, it can be observed that the porosity of the catalysts increased when the temperature was ramped up from room temperature to 975 °C. This phenomenon was consistent with the analysis using other characterization techniques, showing the evaporation of the nicarbazin inside the precursors. Also, the gas pathway formation was monitored when the samples were inserted into the furnace at 525 °C and released a large number of decomposed products. The same experiment was done to study the repyrolysis process, which retreated the formed M-N-C catalysts after it was acid-etched to improve their catalytic performance (Figure 15b).<sup>162</sup> No noticeable change with the existing pathways was observed, although some trivial morphological changes were tracked. This indicates that the carbonaceous matrix of the materials was stable, which agrees with the other characterization results.

Nano-CT provides 3D information on the nanoscale. As already discussed, the additional optical components added to the beamline setup enable a much higher resolution for imaging. Ex situ nano-CT can provide the void distribution or micro porosity at nanoscale.<sup>163\*</sup> Also, the phase ring allows the images to be demonstrated in the phase contrast mode. This provides a much clearer edge and a larger intensity difference between the two phases. Thus, element distribution analysis within the nanoscale is possible if there are only limited elements existing, and the atomic number differences between the elements are large. For M-N-C, the metal species can be identified easily from the nitrogen and carbon.<sup>164</sup> As shown in Figure 15c, nano-CT was used to study the aged Fe-N-C catalyst.<sup>154</sup> The iron oxides were segmented out from the nano-CT images, and thus, the fact that most of the metal oxides were distributed on the surface was revealed. The particle size distribution of the iron oxides was also provided, and it was observed that more than 47% of the metal species were in the range of 0.5–1  $\mu$ m. The in situ nano-CT enables

the tracking of specific particles during the pyrolysis. The experiment was done to understand how nicarbazin-based precursors formed catalysts.<sup>154</sup> It was found that the particles shrunk at the beginning of the pyrolysis, and later a gap between the internal amorphous precursor phase and the external shell appeared. At last, only the external shell remained. This observation was direct proof that the transformation of amorphous carbon began at the edge of the two phases.

**4.2.3.** Combination with Other Techniques. Most catalysis research, including catalytic synthesis, requires chemical information along with morphological observation. X-ray CT can be combined with the other X-ray techniques to gather additional information, not limited to morphological only.

XANES analysis has become more available at various X-ray CT beamlines, enabling simultaneous chemical mapping and morphological quantification. XANES can reveal the oxidation state of the active element of the catalysts. XANES-CT collected data as sinograms, which yielded 3D XANES mappings. In the XANES-CT data, one pixel is one XANES spectrum. The resolution is usually determined by the focal beam, which is in the microscale (depending on the beamline). XANES-CT is mostly done with a synchrotron beamline since it requires a large available energy range. Researchers in the battery field usually use in situ XANES-CT to observe the changes of oxidation state during the battery cycling.<sup>165,166</sup> For catalysts, researchers used this technique to gain a chemical mapping, revealing the distribution of the active element oxidation states.<sup>22</sup> X-ray fluorescence can also be detected along with CT. This enables a full observation of the catalyst materials from both morphological and chemical perspectives.<sup>22</sup>

# 4.3. Operando Studies

Operando studies are performed to gather performance data and structural images from X-ray CT.<sup>28</sup> Beamlines can have stages so that electrochemical tests can be carried out while the sample is also imaged through X-ray CT. Operando studies can allow for real-time tracking of catalyst particles, ionomers, and water or gas migration inside the ROI.<sup>38</sup> Operando tests can show fluid flow through porous media, catalyst performance, and material degradation. For fuel cells, the electrodes and the MEA can be investigated. For water electrolysis, PTLs can be studied through operando tests. For CO<sub>2</sub> reduction electrolyzers, the GDEs can be the focus for operando studies. For redox flow batteries, the porous carbon felt electrodes and electrolyte flow can be investigated. For all of these, fluid flow can be viewed, while the cells are in operation.

**4.3.1. Fuel Cell Studies.** Polymer electrolyte fuel cells (PEFCs) are a promising energy-conversion technology that operate at low temperatures, and they are primarily used for the transportation sector and power generation. To achieve their broad deployment, a reduction in cost and an improvement in durability are needed. Catalyst layers are critical components that use a platinum (Pt) electrocatalyst as the oxygen reduction reaction (ORR) catalyst. A current challenge is to reduce the amount of Pt used in the catalyst layer. Catalyst durability is a major obstacle to reduction of the catalyst loading, as currently the PEFC stacks are overdesigned to include more Pt for the end-of-life operation.<sup>167,168</sup> X-ray CT is a valuable tool to predict the catalyst layer morphological changes during operation to pinpoint degrada-

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 16. Examples of (a) micro-X-ray CT operando sample holder for PEFCs. Adapted with permission from ref 169. Copyright 2023 Elsevier. (b) nano-X-ray CT operando sample holder for PEFC. Adapted with permission from ref 17. Copyright 2020 IOP Publishing.



**Figure 17.** Examples of operando micro-X-ray CT studies and in situ nano-X-ray CT studies focusing on water management and catalyst or membrane degradation. Top images show water distribution in PGM-free catalyst layers using both micro and nano-CT. Adapted with permission from ref 29. Copyright 2018 Elsevier. The bottom left image shows the crack propagation through the MEA during accelerated stress test. Adapted with permission from ref 180. Copyright 2020 Elsevier. Bottom right shows catalyst layer thinning and structure changes during carbon corrosion AST protocol. Adapted with permission from ref 193. Copyright 2019 IOP Publishing.

tion phenomena. Water is a byproduct of ORR, and liquid water condensation in the catalyst layer and GDLs can lead to flooding that will block transport of the oxygen reactant to the catalyst layer. Therefore, understanding water management of PEFCs is critical to the design of catalyst layers and GDLs. Micro and nano-CT can provide valuable information on water

Both micro- and nano X-ray CT have been applied to study transport, reactivity, and degradation of fuel cells. Operando nano X-ray CT experiments are much rarer for PEFCs because of the challenges of experimental design and beam damage to polymer membranes. Typical sample holders for operando experiments are shown in Figure 16, where structural stability, X-ray transparency, mechanical compression, delivery of gases, and low contact resistances must be maintained. More details on operando cell design criteria can be found in Kulkarni et al.<sup>12</sup>

Operando micro-X-ray CT studies for PEFCs primarily focused on two areas: (i) understanding water management and (ii) understanding material degradation during PEFC operation, as shown by Figure 17. For water management, the studies aim to understand primarily water distribution in the GDLs under various operating conditions and current densities or when materials are modified. Because micro-X-ray CT is limited to about 1  $\mu$ m resolution, water distribution in conventional catalyst layers is not possible to probe. Recent studies have used radiography to describe water distribution in microporous layers (MPLs) that also have morphological features below the X-ray CT resolution.<sup>170</sup> In situ X-ray CT was carried out on MPLs when water vapor was introduced, and images before and after the introduction of vapor were subtracted to show water distribution with differential images.<sup>170</sup> The findings suggest that water drained to both sides of the MPL in the through-thickness direction, indicating that there is no preferential distribution of water to one side of the MPL. Furthermore, steady-state was achieved within 6 min of operation, indicating that water equilibration is not a fast process.

Water management in PGM-free catalyst layers that are orders of magnitude thicker (about 50–200  $\mu$ m) compared to conventional catalyst layers has been studied by several works. These studies show that electrode morphology, wettability, and the morphology of the interfaces control water distribution in the catalyst layers.<sup>171</sup> Peng et al.<sup>117</sup> used operando X-ray CT to visualize water flooding in catalyst layers of alkaline exchange membrane fuel cells (AEMFCs). These catalyst layers are, by design, integrated into the GDLs. Therefore, their thickness is larger (~50  $\mu$ m) than that of the conventional catalyst layers. By adding PTFE to the catalyst layer ink formulation, they showed improved performance and no water flooding. The work also correlated results of neutron imaging that showed water distribution with lower resolution but a larger cell and Xray CT, where higher pore-scale resolution was achieved. This work points to the importance of tailoring the wettability of the catalyst layer to its function; by adding PTFE, the catalyst layer became hydrophobic, ejecting more water, and preventing local flooding. Water distribution in the GDLs has been studied using operando studies extensively over the past decade, and the findings are well-summarized in ref 172. Recently, more studies have focused on material modifications to either change wettability or introduce perforations into the GDL or MPL to direct water transport.<sup>173-175</sup> Here we will mostly focus on the most recent studies that are dynamic, as described later.

PEFC durability has been studied with X-ray CT, focusing on the following components: (i) membrane durability<sup>176–181</sup> and (ii) catalyst cracking. Chen et al. in series of two articles<sup>176</sup> explored the membrane and MEA failure due to edge failure

pubs.acs.org/CR

under combined chemical and mechanical membrane degradation accelerated stress tests. Stoll et al.<sup>182</sup> used operando micro X-ray CT to observe catalyst layer thinning during a start-up/shut-down accelerated stress test (AST), showing that larger carbon loss is observed for catalyst layers under the land locations compared to channels. In another study, the authors monitored crack formation at the inlet and outlet of a PEFC during carbon corrosion cycle.<sup>115</sup> They found that the catalyst layer degraded more under the channels compared to the under the lands.

Dynamic studies are valuable, as they can show mostly transient water transport. With subsecond scans, TOMCAT at PSI is the only beamline currently that can carry out operando fuel cell experiments at this very high temporal resolution.<sup>183</sup> For subsecond X-ray CT scans, several conditions are needed: (i) high X-ray flux to reduce noise, (ii) synchronized stage motion and slip-ring for tubing management, and (iii) minimization of beam damage at these high fluxes. Several important studies were carried out by the Büchi and Eller. Xu et al.<sup>184</sup> compared water distribution in GDLs for two PEFC operating temperatures: 40 and 80 °C. They showed that phase-change induced flow is more dominant transport phenomena for 80 °C within the first seconds of current ramp to 1  $A/cm^2$ , whereas capillary fingering is the more dominant mechanism for operation at 40 °C. In another study, they compared transient and steady-state water distribution of operating PEFC with three different commercial GDLs.<sup>185</sup> The same groups from PSI studied cold-start or operating fuel cells below freezing temperatures. PEFCs should be able to start at subzero temperatures. Sabharwal et al.<sup>186,187</sup> used subsecond X-ray CT to understand dynamics of freeze starts from -30 °C using varied gas humidity. They showed that the GDL did not play a significant role in subzero startup, and most of the water produced was limited to the membrane and catalyst layer.

While X-ray CT at subsecond scan resolution is only available at TOMCAT, several studies use transient radiography to observe water thickness inside the operating fuel cells. Kato et al.<sup>188</sup> used transient X-ray radiography (1.5 s resolution) to show water distribution in PEFC under different relative humidity (RH) and temperatures (T). They have shown that depending on T and RH, water transport can be either in liquid form, vapor form, mixed liquid–vapor, or only condensation near the ribs. Liquid water was observed under the lands but not in the channel. This discontinuity was difficult to explain due to the 2D nature of the radiography studies.

Thus far, we have focused only on PEFCs that operated below 100 °C. X-ray CT is also useful for high-temperature (HT) PEFCs, where the membrane is typically acid doped with phosphoric acid, and phosphoric acid leaching is a major degradation issue for these HT-PEFCs. Studies have studied phosphoric acid leaching<sup>189</sup> and water distribution within HT-PEFCs, indicating the importance of the MPL design. Furthermore, in-house catalyst layer design with a minimum number of cracks was revealed to be desired to prevent acid leaching.<sup>190</sup> Another study<sup>191</sup> has looked into HT-PEFC degradation modes using X-ray CT, showing that under current cycling the phosphoric acid amount in GDL was unchanged but its distribution between the layers changed. Furthermore, membrane swelling and catalyst redistribution were observed too. Phosphoric acid leaching can be contained by engineering materials, such as a graphene interlayer between membrane and catalyst layer, as shown by Chen et al.<sup>192</sup>



**Figure 18.** Examples of X-ray CT used for studying PEM electrolyzers. (a and b) 2D cross sections and corresponding 3D renderings of PTL and catalyst layer for two-electrode configurations, porous transport electrode (PTE) and catalyst coated membrane (CCM) respectively. Adapted with permission from ref 102. Copyright 2020 Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) 3D reconstructed view of operando cell used to quantify the triple phase contact area and gas flow in channels with varying PTL morphologies. Adapted with permission from ref 101. Copyright 2022 Elsevier. (d) 1–3 portions of the PTL that are located at the CL/PTL interface, middle of PTL, and PTL/channel interface. (Bottom) 2D oxygen content of the PTL at the *x*–*y* plane by using the Z-project method. (e and f) A conceptual schematic showing transport of oxygen in the PTL. Panels d–f adapted with permission from ref 87. Copyright 2020 iScience.

Single-layer graphene increased phosphoric acid retention, blocked hydrogen crossover, and enabled operation at higher power densities.

In all of the studies reviewed here, operando cell design is critical for experiments because PEFCs for operando studies should be benchmarked against the PEFCs in the laboratory. The studies reviewed here used micro-CT for water management and degradation studies. Nano-CT operando PEFC studies are scarce and mostly involve ex situ imaging because in situ and operando imaging is still very challenging. Kulkarni et al.<sup>12</sup> reported the design of an operando nano-X-ray CT operando cell that was operated at various synchrotron beamlines. Because of the lower energy of nano-X-ray CT beamlines (8 keV) and high flux, the membrane and ionomer get beam damaged. Furthermore, due to the high aspect ratio of the MEA, missing angles, and movement of the membrane during the scan, resolving the catalyst layer microstructure and water distribution is challenging. The use of K-B mirrors at the European Synchrotron Facility (ESRF) enables imaging at higher energies (17.5 keV), which will result in less beam damage and a possibility to see water within the catalyst layer, for example.

Lastly, combined multiscale and multimodality techniques were used to study PEFC degradation and water management. White et al.<sup>193</sup> used a combination of operando micro- and ex situ nano-CT to understand crack formation, catalyst layer thinning (micro-CT), as shown by Figure 17, and nanoscale cracks and pore-size distribution changes (nano-CT). The nanoscale morphology of the catalyst layer was observed using

Zernike phase contrast imaging. Normile et al.<sup>29</sup> used operando micro X-ray CT for PGM-free electrodes to show water distribution and correlate it to interfacial and catalyst layer porosity, as shown by Figure 17. At the same time, an in situ nano-CT study was conducted to show water distribution in the catalyst layer at higher resolution.

4.3.2. Electrolyzer Studies. Polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolysis (PEMWE) is a promising technology to produce green hydrogen at low temperature and high efficiency.<sup>194,195</sup> As renewable energy penetration grows and the market shifts to a hydrogen-based economy, the demand for hydrogen turn-key solutions is increasing. One of the main barriers for PEM electrolysis deployment is cost, which is contributed mostly by expensive IrOx catalysts used on the anode for oxygen evolution reaction.<sup>196</sup> Reducing Ir loadings and increasing their utilization are key for widespread commercialization of these systems. Along with reducing Ir loadings, optimization of critical components such as PTLs is essential for reducing overpotentials and increasing catalyst utilization.<sup>197,198</sup> Previous attempts at understanding bulk oxygen transport through channels and PTLs involved using techniques like neutron imaging and optical microscopy,<sup>199-203</sup> but they lack spatial resolution and 3D images cannot be obtained.

The use of X-ray CT for establishing relationships between the PTL microstructure and its effect on fluid transport to and from the anodic interface is gaining widespread popularity due to its versatility and quality of data obtained. Figure 18 shows examples of studies conducted with X-ray CT for studying



Figure 19. (a) Current large-scale methods to produce various industrial feedstock chemicals mostly produced by fossil fuels.  $CO_2RR$  can be an alternative to offset these fossil fuel-based methods. Adapted with permission from ref 214. Copyright 2019 Springer Nature. (b) Operando synchrotron imaging of the electrolyte distribution within a  $CO_2RR$  GDE with 92 wt % Ag at 0.2 V, radiography of the GDE, Ni mesh (recalculated, black), pores filled with electrolyte (green arrows), and (c) enlargement of the pore system (blue dashed rectangle in panel b) between the mesh wires. Adapted with permission from ref 215. Copyright 2022 The Electrochemical Society.

microscopic and bulk transport processes in PEM electrolyzers. X-ray CT was initially used to study the structure-performance relationships between PTL structure and electrolyzer performance as an ex situ technique.<sup>36,204</sup> Although ex situ investigations gave semi-empirical relationships between the PTL microstructure and electrolyzer performance, a more indepth insight into anodic interfacial properties and gas transport is essential in order to enable component optimization and catalyst loading reduction. Operando X-ray CT experiments give the highest insight into these microscopic interfacial properties of relevance. The first operando X-ray CT experiments for electrolyzers were conducted by Leonard et al. to quantify the morphology evolution and oxygen bubble transport.<sup>205</sup> Since then, several operando studies have been conducted by various groups with their own operando cells compliant with various beamlines. The general design guidelines for operando cells and their use for operating in fuel cell or electrolyzer mode have been reported by Kulkarni et al.<sup>12</sup>

Figure 18a,b shows the 2D cross-sectional view and corresponding 3D rendering of a PEM electrolyzer as observed with X-ray CT. The cathode and anode catalyst layers appear the brightest due to a higher Z-contrast produced by heavy elements like Pt and Ir, respectively. The Ti PTL has a higher

contrast as compared to that of the cathode GDL made of carbon. These differences in contrast make it easier to segment the different phases individually. This can be used to quantify the geometric triple-phase interfacial contact between the catalyst, PTL, and the membrane and estimate the catalyst utilization especially since electrochemically active surface area (ECSA) in electrolyzers cannot be accurately quantified with traditional hydrogen adsorption cyclic voltammograms in full cells.<sup>206,207</sup> Recent studies have focused on understanding the factors that affect catalyst utilization and overpotentials by interfacial analysis.

Schuler et al. showed that the catalyst utilization is directly affected by the PTL surface morphology and kinetic and ohmic overpotentials are directly related to increased catalyst utilization.<sup>198,208</sup> Kulkarni et al. studied the interfacial properties of two different electrode configurations.<sup>101</sup> The first configuration is the catalyst coated membrane (CCM), where the catalyst may be deposited on the membrane. The second configuration is the GDE, where the catalyst may be deposited directly onto the PTL. For the GDE configuration, a commercial fiber PTL and sintered PTL were used. Figure 18c shows the complete 3D volume rendering of the PEMWE cell used in the study. Their results showed direct correlations between the interfacial contact and its influence on all cell

overpotentials and steady-state durability. They concluded that CCM configurations with low porosity sintered PTLs can enable high interfacial contact and reduce mass transport overpotentials at high current density as corroborated with their X-ray radiography results, quantifying the oxygen removal into the channels.

Although oxygen transport into the channels can be quantified with high-speed X-ray radiography, its transport through PTLs cannot be observed directly because PTL produces significantly higher contrast than oxygen, making it difficult to segment the oxygen phase from Ti. Lee et al. used ex situ X-ray CT to characterize PTL morphology and observed oxygen transport through PTLs using a microfluidic platform under optical microscopy.<sup>209</sup> Their results showed capillary fingering as the dominant transport regime and that PTLs can be modified to have limiting pore throats closer to the interface to reduce mass transport overpotentials.

Following that, Satjaritanun et al. used acid-treated carbon GDLs to imitate fiber PTLs in operando X-ray CT studies to directly observe oxygen transport through the PTL.<sup>123</sup> They observed oxygen taking preferential pathways for removal and observed a spatial periodicity of ~400  $\mu$ m mostly influenced by PTL pore size distribution, as shown in Figure 18d-f. Perhaps the most successful study to observe oxygen distribution through actual PTLs was done by De Angelis et al. by using stained water in operando cells.<sup>124</sup> The water was stained with 5% iodic acid to increase its contrast against PTLs, which made it possible for segmentation using novel image processing techniques. Figure 18d, e represents the 3D rendering of the fiber PTL with oxygen phase and oxygen transport pathways, respectively. The overall oxygen content in the PTL increases with increase in current density. However, the overall oxygen saturation decreases from the catalyst layer to the channel as represented in Figure 18f,g, respectively. From the findings, they proposed the idea of anisotropic PTLs where the in-plane pore throat size distribution is smaller than the through plane to ensure efficient water transport to the catalyst layer and oxygen removal. These findings also strongly point to the direction of using MPLs to increase interfacial contact and reduce overpotentials.<sup>210</sup> Hence, future X-ray studies for PEM electrolysis are directed toward the optimization of MPLs and durability.

4.3.3. CO<sub>2</sub> Reduction Reaction Studies. Capturing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere or from industrial flue gases is essential for environmental remediation and creating carbon negative or carbon neutral industrial processes. The electroreduction of carbon dioxide (CO2RR) to value-added products presents a strong promise for offsetting industrial feedstock gases that would typically be obtained from fossil fuels such as methane, carbon monoxide, ethylene, formate, etc.<sup>211,212</sup> The electrocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$  however presents major technological challenges since CO<sub>2</sub> is a thermodynamically stable molecule and requires crossing of a high free energy barrier for splitting  $^{213}$   ${\rm CO}_2 RR$  is typically performed with anodic water oxidation (oxygen evolution reaction) mainly because of advances in OER catalysis and membranes from the field of PEM/AEM water electrolysis and can therefore serve as a quasi-reference electrode.<sup>214</sup> The cathodic CO<sub>2</sub>RR at a heterogeneous catalyst surface can produce a number of different products, as depicted in Figure 19a. These products have a significant overlap between standard reduction potentials along with competing with

hydrogen evolution reaction (HER) that happens at 0.0 V vs RHE. Hence, selectivity is a major challenge in these systems.

Hori et al. in 1989 were the first to show the efficacy of silver as a good catalyst for CO2RR since it showed over 80% conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> to CO.<sup>216</sup> Additionally, they also showed that a breadth of products including methane and ethylene can be synthesized simultaneously in a single-step electrochemical reaction using copper as catalyst.<sup>217,218</sup> Since then, several studies have reported increasing selectivity and activity of Ag and Cu based catalysts such as using Ag nanoparticles with ionic liquids<sup>219</sup> and nanoporous Ag catalyst<sup>220</sup> reaching CO Faradaic efficiencies of >90%. Hence, CO<sub>2</sub>RR electrolyzers operating at an industrially relevant current density of over 200  $mA/cm^2$  have become possible with both Ag and Cu based electrocatalysts.<sup>221-224</sup> However, although catalyst development is a major component, optimizing electrolyzer design is essential for reducing overpotentials and achieving economically viable scales. Janáky and co-workers have pioneered design of vapor fed continuous flow cells and stacks including zero gap cells for CO2RR with faradaic efficiencies of over 95%.<sup>225,226</sup> For these vapor-fed systems, GDEs are often the electrodes of choice that employ porous catalyst and diffusion media similar to fuel cells that allow high current density operation.<sup>227</sup> GDEs however have a major challenge of flooding that disrupts flow of CO<sub>2</sub> to the catalyst layer and causes reduction in selectivity toward CO<sub>2</sub>RR products.<sup>228,</sup> Flooding of water in GDLs has been well studied for fuel cells, but in the case of CO<sub>2</sub>RR, flooding issues are much more complex since it occurs through various interrelated processes and the high negative potentials affect the wettability of the GDL fibers.<sup>230</sup> Hence, there is an immense scientific opportunity to understand fundamental and multiscale processes in GDEs with X-ray CT and other operando X-ray techniques. Various ex situ and operando studies were conducted on silver-based GDEs coupled with ORR to understand the effects of microstructure and electrolyte transport through these electrodes.<sup>231-235</sup> Paulisch et al.<sup>232</sup> made seminal contributions to utilizing X-ray CT for understanding electrolyte distribution in silver electrodes used for chlor-alkali electrolyzers and, later, by extension to CO<sub>2</sub>RR electrolyzers. Lee et al.<sup>236</sup> first used operando X-ray CT to visualize gas bubble formation in the electrolyte chamber in CO<sub>2</sub>RR cells. They explained how the accumulation of CO<sub>2</sub> and syngas bubbles at the PEM and GDE interface region affected cell voltage at various current densities. Since the OER is still an anodic reaction of choice for CO<sub>2</sub>RR electrolyzers, the insights on the complex multiphase flow in PTLs from PEM electrolyzers are highly relevant in this context as well. Hoffman et al.<sup>215</sup> later developed operando cell for monitoring electrolyte distribution and bubble formation during ORR and CO<sub>2</sub>RR and showed crystallization effect of electrolyte caused by the hydrophobic nature of the GDE. They were also able to map electrolyte distribution and visualize blockage of GDE surface by HER bubble formation as shown in Figure 19b,c. These studies are important for designing highly efficient GDEs and optimizing the transport of reactants at reaction interface areas. Along with X-ray CT imaging, techniques such as synchrotron XANES can be employed simultaneously to understand oxidation states and the chemical nature of catalysts in operando conditions.

**4.3.4. Redox Flow Battery Studies.** Redox flow batteries are a simple yet durable type of energy storage system that



Figure 20. (a-c) Recreation of the dry version of the cell from X-ray CT images on each plane, along with (d) the operando cell used to gather the images. Adapted with permission from ref 33. Copyright 2020 Elsevier. (e) Examples of different flow field geometries that can be applied to the redox flow battery cells, and these are mentioned in the X-ray CT study by ref 34.

utilize reduction and oxidation reactions to store and release energy.<sup>237-241</sup> The electrodes used for these devices are made of a porous carbon structure that can undergo structural changes throughout compression and operation.<sup>242</sup> The microstructure of the electrodes affects mass transport, pressure drop, and flow characteristics.<sup>243</sup> The porous electrodes also have a large effect on the power density, overpotentials, and losses associated with battery performance, so it is important to characterize the electrode structure at the micron level through operando X-ray CT studies to understand how the electrodes function and see how to improve upon the electrode design.<sup>240,244-246</sup> These scans can show changes in the porosity, pore size distribution, and tortuosity within the porous electrodes as the operando cell operates. The flow field is another factor to consider for the overall cell design and functionality. Common designs include serpentine, flow-through, and interdigitated and are shown in Figure 20e. Special cell designs are necessary to allow for X-ray imaging of the electrodes to be completed while in operando conditions.<sup>33,34</sup> The area of interest, the porous electrodes in this case, needs to be available to receive the X-rays emitted from the synchrotron in order for the images to be collected. The combination of X-ray CT and cell testing can show catalyst and electrode performance and electrolyte flow while characterizing the structure of the electrode. This section will review operando studies into redox flow battery electrode performance and electrolyte flow.

Catalyst and electrode performance can be investigated by operando X-ray CT tests. A study by Gebhard et al.<sup>33</sup> used X-ray CT and X-ray radiography to investigate the stability and performance of bismuth-modified carbon felt electrodes compared to unmodified carbon felt electrodes in a vanadium redox flow battery operando cell. The operando cell design along with X-ray CT recreations of the dry version of the cell are shown in Figure 20a–d. Both electrodes' performance and

structures were characterized through in operando X-ray computed tomography scans and then compared against each other.<sup>33</sup> Bismuth has a higher level of absorption of Xray radiation than the normal carbon felt electrode, so it showed a much darker gray color in the scans.<sup>33</sup> The image analysis showed that the bismuth would be deposited on the electrode as the cell charged with most of the deposition occurring closer to the current collector at the entrance of the cell.<sup>33</sup> X-ray CT can also be used to track electrode degradation throughout battery operation.<sup>247</sup> Scans can be taken at different times of continuous battery operation to visualize how the porous electrodes change as the battery operates. A study from Trogadas et al.<sup>247</sup> used micro-X-ray CT to monitor a couple important changes to the electrodes: electrode fiber agglomeration and electrochemical oxidation of the carbon. Analyzing degradation mechanisms in the electrodes will help inform the design of both carbon felt electrodes and modified electrodes as seen in the study by Gebhard et al.<sup>33</sup>

Another aspect that can be investigated with X-ray CT is electrolyte flow through the porous redox flow battery electrodes. A study by Bevilacqua et al.<sup>25</sup> looked into the effects of electrolyte and electrode compression on flow using X-ray CT. After segmenting the images taken, the liquid distribution in the carbon felt electrode was able to be extracted.<sup>25</sup> The results were able to show the effect of different electrolyte and electrode activation versus nonactivation on the wetted surface area inside the electrode.<sup>25</sup> It was determined that introducing surface groups during thermal activation led to a higher saturation and a higher electrochemically active surface area inside the electrode.<sup>25</sup> Following further with electrolyte flow studies, a paper by Eifert et al.<sup>34</sup> investigated the effect of different flow field geometries on the electrolyte flow dynamics. The flow designs that were tested were serpentine, interdigitated, and flow-



Figure 21. (a) Air remaining inside the porous electrode; (b and d) bubble evolution after subsequent periods of undergoing Hydrogen evolution reaction conditions. The shown channels are reconstructed after X-ray CT imaging. Adapted with permission from ref 34. Copyright 2020 John Wiley and Sons.



**Figure 22.** Experimental and simulated liquid-water saturation inside the compressed GDL with two injection holes in the bottom under the channel. (top-left) Cross-sectional volume of the liquid phase of experimental with the pressure of 500, 2,000, and 3,000 Pa. (top-right) Cross-sectional volume of the liquid phase of CFD simulation with the pressure of 500, 2,000, and 3,000 Pa. (bottom-left) Experimental liquid-water saturation profiles, and (bottom-right) simulated liquid-water saturation profiles. Adapted with permission from ref 249. Copyright 2018 IOP Publishing.

through.<sup>34</sup> The flow-through design achieved the highest electrode saturation with an electrolyte injection method, but the serpentine design had the highest electrode saturation with continuous electrolyte flow conditions.<sup>34</sup> It was possible to look for remaining air in the porous electrodes and evidence of parasitic side reactions while investigating the electrolyte flow using X-ray CT. To do this, hydrogen evolution bubbles had to be tracked. The side reaction was tracked by its current response and decrease in saturation, and the bubbles were visualized through X-ray CT and are shown in Figure 21.<sup>34</sup>

A study by Köble et al.<sup>35</sup> focused on the time and spatial resolved flow for the electrolyte inside redox flow batteries. This study sought to link electrode compression to electrode saturation and found that the higher the compression, the

higher the saturation with above 50% compression giving 97% saturation.<sup>35</sup> Synchrotron X-ray radiography was used to visualize the electrolyte invasion into the electrode.<sup>35</sup> As the compression on the electrodes was increased, effects at the boundaries of the electrode that hindered electrolyte injection were able to be overcome, but the increasing compression caused a decrease in the diffusivity and permeability of the electrolyte in the electrode.<sup>35</sup> 3D reconstructions of the electrolyte flow characteristics can be applied to mathematical models of redox flow batteries (a closer look into modeling is described in the next section). These models can more easily investigate the mass transport and fluid mechanics inside the



**Figure 23.** Liquid saturation inside sample SGL25BC in all three injection cases. Breakthrough at the MPL and GDL are shown for each case. (a) Single injection orientation. (b) Dual channel injection orientation. (c) Land channel injection orientation. Adapted with permission from ref 250. Copyright 2021 IOP Publishing.

battery electrodes at different operating conditions.<sup>237,244,245,248</sup>

**4.3.5. Mathematical Modeling Using X-ray CT Imaging.** X-ray CT data sets are useful for modeling, as they can provide geometry of computational domains. In situ/ operando experiments can serve as model validation data sources. Typically, experiments are costly and can be time-consuming when looking at multiple samples or when extensive design of experiment is needed. Computational fluid dynamics (CFD) modeling can be utilized as a method to narrow down the samples of interest or to design extensive parametric sweep of operating conditions and geometry with minimal experimental effort. Using X-ray CT scans of different porous GDLs or PTLs, real 3D reconstructed geometries can be produced. Numerical modeling simulations run faster than experiments, are less costly, and can use the entire geometry generated by X-ray CT.

Satjaritanun et al.<sup>111,249</sup> reconstructed GDL geometries from X-ray CT scans to predict liquid transport phenomena through porous media. GDLs are crucial to the operation of fuel cells, and a better understanding of liquid transport through the pore structure can aid in better fuel cell efficiency. In these works, CFD modeling is used to simulate liquid evolution, saturation, and solid–liquid interactions through different GDLs. First, it is necessary to produce a validated model to ensure that the predictions are accurate. XFlow, a commercial CFD solver that utilizes the Lattice Boltzmann Method (LBM), was chosen for these studies. The LBM is beneficial when simulating complex geometry because it uses particle-based tracking, which does

not require meshing of the geometry. This means that the integrity of the sample structure is maintained. The model was used to predict the local saturation inside different samples. When compared to the experimental data, the model predicted saturation data comparable to experiments. This means that the numerical modeling technique using LBM is an acceptable way to simulate liquid transport through porous media. With a validated GDL model, the next task was to reproduce sample geometries with the addition of an MPL. An MPL is added to the GDL to aid in water management and gas removal. X-ray CT scans were used to reconstruct the sample geometries. Precise imaging is important for these samples, because the MPL has microscopic cracks on the surface. Liquid breakthrough pressures were first observed experimentally for different GDL/MPL samples. Then, XFlow software was used to predict breakthrough pressures through the same samples. When data were compared, the model agreed with the experimental results. Therefore, X-ray CT scans combined with the LBM can predict real liquid transport phenomena in porous media. With the model validated, the last task was to develop a model geometry that would emulate the internal environment of a fuel cell. To provide insight into the transport phenomena inside the GDL during fuel cell operation, a land-channel geometry was created to represent the inside of the fuel cell apparatus. This allows for the influence of the GDL geometry on liquid transport inside an operating cell to be observed. Single and multiple injection points were used to obtain predictions on liquid evolution and saturation behavior under the land and channel areas.



**Figure 24.** Predictions of oxygen transport pathway inside five samples of PTL using VoF method (Top: 2D cut plane at the middle of the sample; Bottom: 3D representation of bubble evolution). Adapted with permission from ref 252.

Predicted water evolution through the GDL samples agreed with the visualized data produced from X-ray CT scans of experiments, shown in Figure 22. Results showed that the GDL geometry influences the liquid-water saturation and the breakthrough pressure.

Sepe et al.  $^{250-252}$  use the validated LBM model to simulate liquid transport through different gas diffusion layer samples. The objective of these studies is to observe the influence of the GDL and MPL geometry on liquid transport phenomena. A two-rib, one-channel geometry orientation was used to simulate the internal environment of a fuel cell. The first task was to predict liquid saturation and evolution in GDL samples without an MPL. Four commercial carbon fiber GDL structures were chosen for this study. Micro X-ray CT scans were used to reconstruct the 3D geometries of the four GDL samples. GDL geometries were imported into XFlow, which uses the LBM and does not require meshing of the geometries. It is necessary to create precise 3D reconstructed geometries to accurately predict liquid transport through the sample. Liquid injection points with varying inlet pressures were used to observe the influence of the GDL geometry on liquid transport phenomena. Results showed that the path the liquid follows to exit out of the channel is dependent on the GDL pore structure. Without X-ray CT scans of the GDL, prediction of liquid evolution would not be possible. The next task was to use micro-X-ray CT scans to generate GDL structures with the addition of an MPL. Proton exchange membrane fuel cells require a GDL to maintain saturation level and aid in the removal of gas from the catalyst surface. Often, MPL is added to the GDL surface to improve saturation. The LBM was applied to GDL samples with an MPL to study the influence that MPL has on saturation and liquid evolution. A two-rib, one-channel geometry with different injection points was used to simulate liquid transport inside the fuel cell apparatus. Micro-X-ray CT scans can capture the microscopic cracks on the MPL surface. Cracks on the MPL dictate the path that a liquid must take to penetrate the GDL structure. Results showed that the addition of the MPL results in higher saturation levels and a more uniform liquid distribution across the sample; an example is shown in Figure 23.

Sepe<sup>252</sup> developed a numerical modeling technique to predict oxygen bubble evolution through saturated PTL. Previously, complex pore geometries were difficult to mesh, so the LBM was employed. LBM utilizes particle-based tracking to simulate liquid–solid interactions but requires time steps between  $1 \times 10^{-10}$  and  $1 \times 10^{-8}$  s. Now, better Xray CT technology allows for more precise geometry reconstruction. Accompanied by an improved meshing process, the finite volume method can be used to simulate transport through porous media. This allows for larger time steps when running simulations. In this study, each PTL geometry is reconstructed using image processing techniques that take X-ray CT scans and generate 3D geometry. Simulations use the volume of fluid (VoF) method to predict two-phase flow through different PTL structures. Results showed that bubble formation will penetrate the largest pore volume available. Fibrous material will tend to have larger bubbles present inside the sample because the pore volume is larger. Sintered powder material has smaller bubbles but more breakthrough paths for bubble evolution. Growth, surface interaction, evolution, velocity, and size of oxygen bubbles through the microstructures of the PTL samples were observed. The results are summarized in Figure 24.

#### 5. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

#### 5.1. Summary of Findings for X-ray CT

X-ray CT is an imaging technique that can show the inner structure of the crucial electrochemical cell components. In this review, studies into the use of X-ray CT in in situ and operando studies for different electrochemical purposes have been presented. In all, catalyst synthesis, fuel cells, electrolyzers for water and CO<sub>2</sub> reduction, and redox flow battery studies have been reviewed. Once the images have been captured on the beamline, the image analysis afterward gives numerical and visual data to characterize the cell being studied. Common to all these studies is the morphological information obtained in terms of layer porosity, various phase distributions such as gas or liquid, and catalyst distribution. X-ray CT provides feedback on component design, such as the morphology or wettability of particular layers. Specifically, X-ray CT is useful when rationally designed electrodes are needed. X-ray CT can precisely quantify gradients in porosity, pore-sizes, or wettability, and it can confirm their effectiveness on mass transport. Furthermore, degradation mechanisms for all the devices mentioned and their electrocatalysts can be explained with X-ray CT: loss of mass due to corrosion, change of wettability, or catalyst redistribution can all be visualized with X-ray CT. The results of these studies have contributed to

helping improve the knowledge about device functionality, degradation due to use, and mass flow inside of the cells.

X-ray CT can provide morphological data to find crucial values for catalysts such as porosity, tortuosity, and catalyst surface area.<sup>156,157,253</sup> Pyrolysis is a common way to synthesize catalysts, and X-ray CT can be used for in situ measurements of the morphological changes throughout pyrolysis. Micro-CT in situ testing showed that porosity increased with temperature. Similar studies have been applied to reprolysis where only minor morphological changes were seen. Nano-CT is also applicable to catalyst studies. Ex situ nano-CT was used on Fe–N–C to find that most of the metal oxides were on the surface, and in situ nano-CT was able to track specific particles and found that the particles became smaller at the beginning of pyrolysis.

Both micro- and nano-CT can be used for fuel cell studies as well, but nano-CT is not commonly used for polymer membrane fuel cells. These techniques can help to study degradation, reactivity, and mass transport inside fuel cells. In this review, the studies that were focused on were studies into water management and material degradation using micro-CT. By introducing water vapor to MPLs and using X-ray CT to image the cell, it was found that electrode morphology and the wettability of the interfaces control water distribution inside the catalyst layer.<sup>171</sup> X-ray radiography can be used along with X-ray CT to help visualize the water better. Another test of adding PTFE to the catalyst ink helped to prevent flooding and improved performance. For degradation studies, X-ray CT combined with AST showed that more carbon is lost from areas under the land part of the flow field than from under the channel areas.<sup>182</sup> However, in a study about crack formation, it was found that the membrane degrades more in the channel areas than the land areas.<sup>115</sup>

X-ray CT allows 3D visualization inside electrolyzers which is advantageous to study the catalyst utilization and morphology of the PTLs.<sup>197,198</sup> Oxygen transport through different types of PTLs can be characterized, which helps optimize the design of PTLs. It was found that the presence of an MPL allows for more interfacial contact with the catalyst layer, and refining the PTL structure can help reduce mass transport overpotentials. The information gathered here can also be used to help with  $CO_2RR$  electrolyzers.  $CO_2$  reduction relies heavily on GDEs, and the issues of flooding and fluid transport can be investigated by using X-ray CT. Insights from PEMWE X-ray CT studies along with other X-ray imaging techniques can help influence  $CO_2RR$  electrolyzer design.

Vanadium redox flow batteries utilize a porous carbon felt electrode, which presents a couple ways that X-ray CT can be used to provide data. Morphological data about the electrode structure and performance and studies into electrolyte flow are the main focuses here. X-ray CT can be used with X-ray radiography here as well to help with the catalyst visualization. Porous electrodes with and without bismuth were imaged in operando tests which showed that the use of a heterogeneous catalyst can help improve the overall performance.<sup>33</sup> Electrolyte flow depends on a couple factors. Flow field design has an effect, and a study found that a serpentine design leads to higher electrode saturation with continuous electrolyte flow.<sup>34</sup> Electrode compression also affects saturation. It was found that saturation increases with compression up to 97% saturation around 50% electrode compression.<sup>35</sup>

Mathematical modeling using data from X-ray CT imaging can allow for different porous structures to be investigated. CFD can be applied to reconstructed geometries of samples to simulate the fluid flow dynamics and transport phenomena that occur inside the porous layers of the electrochemical cells being investigated.<sup>111,249–251</sup> In this way, for example, the effects of MPLs and different porous structures can be compared using models to gather the overall cell performance in a quicker manner than a full experiment for each type of porous layer.

#### 5.2. Future Methods

In electrocatalysis, X-ray CT is especially useful when catalysts are integrated into real devices and operated under realistic conditions of temperature, pressure, relative humidity, and applied potential or current density. Then X-ray CT can detect morphology changes and new phase formation (gas, liquid) and diagnose material degradation. Both steady-state and transient techniques are useful, as the steady-state method allows for higher spatial resolution compared to dynamic imaging, while transient simulations can detect dynamics of new phase formation. Currently, dynamic X-ray CT scans are possible due to advances in detectors, optics, and high X-ray flux. However, challenges exist with operando systems as these fuel cells or electrolyzers have tubing for reactants/products and electric leads that must rotate with the cell. For subsecond scans, the cell accelerates fast and will complete several complete rotations before coming to a stop. This means that all of the wires and tubing must rotate at the same speed. Designing slip-rings at the beamlines for tubing and electric leads is critical to accommodate cell rotations. For example, TOMCAT<sup>254</sup> at PSI has such a slip-ring to accommodate subsecond scans and currently is the only beamline that produced subsecond scans on operando electrochemical devices.

For nano X-ray CT, challenges exist with operando cell development for electrocatalysis studies. Nano X-ray CT beamlines have small spot X-rays with high flux; therefore, beam damage becomes significant. Furthermore, the beamlines that use zone plates are restricted to an energy range up to about 12 keV, as the manufacturing of zone plates beyond this range is challenging. This region is characterized by tender X-rays to low hard X-rays. As discussed earlier, beamlines with K–B mirrors are not limited to low-energy ranges and can alleviate the issue of beam damage. Alternative optical configurations exist too, such as compound refractive lenses that are designed for hard X-ray imaging (>15 keV)<sup>255</sup> for full-field imaging.

Many materials will attenuate X-rays in this low-energy range, and therefore, operando cell design is limited to soft and thin materials, such as Kapton film and thin PEEK materials. Furthermore, because of high resolution, the field of view is only on the order of 40–100  $\mu$ m. Most of the operando cells will be larger than the field of view with significant portions of hardware falling outside of the imaging FOV. This will introduce reconstruction artifacts. With 30 nm resolution, the hardware must be mounted properly and be stable. When gaseous reactants are introduced or products are produced, it is inevitable that components will swell or move on a nanometer scale. Therefore, an additional challenge exists for imaging at the nanoscale as electrocatalysis systems are inherently dynamic during operation. Many of the electrochemical systems rely on soft materials, such as carbon-based materials, oxides, or polymers. To image soft materials, a phase-contrast imaging mode is needed. Typically, a phase-ring is placed

between the stage and detector, and images are collected in phase and not absorption mode. The challenge of phasecontrast imaging is that it is slower than absorption mode, and complex algorithms are needed to retrieve the phase; otherwise, phase artifacts will be present in reconstructed images. Many beamlines opt to not have phase-contrast nano-X-ray CT imaging and prefer to focus on absorption imaging. Beam damage is still significant at these low energies; therefore, a system with any polymer or water will see damage. Some of these challenges can be alleviated by transitioning to different optical configurations using K–B mirrors that allow nano-X-ray CT imaging at higher energies. ESRF Beamline ID16A is an example that uses K–B mirrors.<sup>256</sup> The challenge with K–B mirrors is that the beamline must be extremely stable both vibrationally and thermally.

Operando nano-CT of PEFCs is critical as it can enable visualization of water distribution in the catalyst layer, and it can also show catalyst porosity changes and wettability changes after degradation experiments. If beam damage is not an issue, one can visualize these phenomena during operation. Phasecontrast is needed to visualize carbon agglomerates, whereas absorption is needed to observe catalysts that have a higher Xray attenuation coefficient (such as metals).

In the future, especially for the electrocatalysis field, we will see the development of X-ray CT techniques combined with XAS or XRF, where chemical information can be extracted and overlaid onto 3D morphological domains obtained with X-ray CT. For example, nano-X-ray CT beamlines already have the capability of 3D XANES. This requires imaging to be fast, as for each energy one must have a 3D scan. Then the limitation shifts away from spectroscopic imaging to data processing. Each sample will have about 100 scans, with each corresponding to a discrete energy level. These scans must be reconstructed and processed for the chemical information. Having an automatic algorithm and ML methods to do this will be much needed. Combined X-ray CT and XAS or XRF will enable either elemental mapping (XRF) or oxidation state (XAS) of the catalyst. For example, during degradation studies, catalyst loss can be observed with X-ray CT, but the loss can be quantified with XRF, which allows for precise loading detection. During PEMWE operation, IrOx undergoes various oxidation states during current cycling (Ir-III to Ir-IV, for example), and its initial performance can be correlated with the XAS oxidation state; whereas upon degradation, IrOx can change its oxidation state, and its morphology will change too. Tracking both the oxidation state of the catalyst and the morphology of the catalyst layer is critical to design lowloading IrOx PEMWE cells.

In terms of modeling X-ray CT data, scale-bridging models that can incorporate data from micro- and macroscales will be used more often to predict reaction kinetics and transport phenomena across a multiscale range becauseelectrochemical devices have porous layers that range from nanoscale to macroscale in pore-sizes. XAS, XRF, and other additional probes will be used to validate the models' capabilities to predict chemical and electrochemical information. Transient simulations on geometries generated by X-ray CT will be needed to simulate transient physics within the devices, such as bubble nucleation, growth, transport, and coalescence during electrolysis or water removal from the catalyst layer within fuel cells.

# AUTHOR INFORMATION

# **Corresponding Authors**

- Dilworth Y. Parkinson Advanced Light Source, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California 94720, United States; orcid.org/0000-0002-1817-0716; Email: dyparkinson@lbl.gov
- Iryna V. Zenyuk Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering, National Fuel Cell Research Center, and Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of California, Irvine, California 92617, United States;
  orcid.org/0000-0002-1612-0475; Email: iryna.zenyuk@ uci.edu

# **Authors**

- Jack T. Lang Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering and National Fuel Cell Research Center, University of California, Irvine, California 92617, United States; © orcid.org/0000-0002-3060-0475
- **Devashish Kulkarni** National Fuel Cell Research Center and Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of California, Irvine, California 92617, United States
- **Collin W. Foster** Department of Aerospace Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana–Champaign, Urbana, Illinois 61820, United States
- Ying Huang National Fuel Cell Research Center and Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of California, Irvine, California 92617, United States;
  orcid.org/0000-0002-8356-6194
- Mitchell A. Sepe Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Center, Department of Chemical Engineering, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina 29208, United States
- Sirivatch Shimpalee Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Center, Department of Chemical Engineering, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina 29208, United States

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00873

# **Author Contributions**

CRediT: Jack Todd Lang conceptualization, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, writing-original draft, writingreview & editing; Devashish Kulkarni conceptualization, formal analysis, methodology, writing-original draft, writingreview & editing; Collin W. Foster conceptualization, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Ying Huang investigation, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Mitchell A. Sepe formal analysis, writing-review & editing; Dilworth Y. Parkinson methodology, project administration, supervision, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Iryna V. Zenyuk conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, project administration, supervision, writingoriginal draft, writing-review & editing.

# Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

#### **Biographies**

Jack T. Lang (jacktl@uci.edu) was born in 2000 in Thousand Oaks, CA, and he received his B.S. in Chemical Engineering from the University of California, Irvine (UCI) in 2022. At UCI, he was an undergraduate researcher in Professor Iryna Zenyuk's group where he performed the rotating disk electrode experiment for IrOx catalyst in different electrolyte solutions and image analysis on X-ray CT image stacks. Currently, he is pursuing his Ph.D. at UCI in Professor Iryna Zenyuk's group. His work now focuses on operando X-ray CT imaging of electrolyzer cells, ex situ CT imaging of PTLs for electrolysis, and the investigation of low IrOx catalyst loading on cell performance.

Devashish Kulkarni (dskulkar@uci.edu) was born in 1996 in Nashik, India, and received his B.E in Mechanical Engineering from Maharashtra Institute of Technology in 2018. He earned his M.S and Ph.D. in Materials Science and Engineering from the University of California, Irvine in 2020 and 2022, respectively, under the guidance of Prof. Iryna Zenyuk. His Ph.D. work focused on interfacial engineering in polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolyzers, specifically optimization of catalyst layers and porous transport layers (PTLs). Currently, he is working at Nel Hydrogen as a cell stack design engineer for R&D and deployment of MW scale PEM electrolyzer systems. He is also a technical team member on several US Department of Energy projects for PTL development and unitized regenerative fuel cells.

Collin W. Foster (collinf3@illinois.edu) was born in 1996 in St. Charles, Illinois, and received his B.S. and M.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Arizona State University (ASU) in 2018 and 2019, respectively. At ASU, his thesis focused on the experimental study of the multimechanical response of composite tubes under combined loading conditions. Currently, he is pursuing his Ph.D. at the University of Illinois at Urbana–Champaign under the supervision of Prof. Francesco Panerai, in the Department of Aerospace Engineering. His dissertation work, which is funded by Sandia National Laboratory, Office of Science SCGSR fellowship, and Department of Education GAANN fellowship, focuses on the micro-to-meso scale high-temperature response of ablative systems for atmospheric reentry.

Ying Huang (yingh16@uci.edu) obtained her Ph.D. in Materials Science and Engineering (supervisor Prof. Iryna V. Zenyuk) in 2023 at the University of California, Irvine. Her research interests include probing the morphological evolution and chemical transformation of the precursors to M–N–C catalysts during pyrolysis.

Mitchell A. Sepe (msepe@email.sc.edu) was born in 1998 in New Kensington, Pennsylvania and earned his B.Sc. in Chemical Engineering from the University of South Carolina in 2020. While completing his undergraduate studies, Mitchell used multiscale numerical modeling techniques to predict liquid transport phenomena through different porous materials for fuel cell application. Currently, he is in his third year of the Ph.D. program, working in Dr. Sirivatch Shimpalee's group. Mitchell's dissertation research, which is funded by Ford Motor Company, the Korean Institute of Energy Research, and BASF, aims to apply multiscale modeling techniques to complex porous geometries to predict the evolution of liquid and gas for the development of electrolyzers and fuel cells.

Sirivatch Shimpalee (shimpale@cec.sc.edu) received his Ph.D. at the University of South Carolina in 2001, and he is now a Director of the Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Center in the Department of Chemical Engineering at the University of South Carolina. His expertise is the use of multiscale and multidimensional modeling combined with electrochemistry to understand the physics inside their complex systems, particularly in transport phenomena.

Dilworth Parkinson (dyparkinson@lbl.gov) is the Deputy for Photon Science Operations at the Advanced Light Source at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. He also leads the Diffraction and Imaging Program and is the principal beamline scientist for X-ray microtomography. He completed a postdoctoral fellowship with UCSF, received a Ph.D. in Chemistry from UC Berkeley, and received a B.S. in Chemistry from BYU.

Iryna V. Zenyuk (iryna.zenyuk@uci.edu) received her B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Polytechnic University (now New York University) and Ph.D. from Carnegie Mellon University and did a postdoctoral work at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. She is an Associate Professor in Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering at University of California Irvine and a Director of the National Fuel Cell Research Center.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the Department of Energy–Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy–Fuel Cell Technologies Office (DOE-EERE-FCTO) and the  $H_2$  from the Next-generation of Electrolyzers of Water (H2NEW) consortium for funding.

## REFERENCES

(1) Garland, N. L.; Papageorgopoulos, D. C.; Stanford, J. M. Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Technology: Progress, Challenges, and Future Directions. *Energy Procedia* **2012**, *28*, 2–11.

(2) Wappler, M.; Unguder, D.; Lu, X.; Ohlmeyer, H.; Teschke, H.; Lueke, W. Building the Green Hydrogen Market – Current State and Outlook on Green Hydrogen Demand and Electrolyzer Manufacturing. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2022**, *47* (79), 33551–33570.

(3) Duffner, F.; Kronemeyer, N.; Tübke, J.; Leker, J.; Winter, M.; Schmuch, R. Post-Lithium-Ion Battery Cell Production and Its Compatibility with Lithium-Ion Cell Production Infrastructure. *Nat. Energy* **2021**, *6* (2), 123–134.

(4) Bhaskar, A.; Assadi, M.; Nikpey Somehsaraei, H. Decarbonization of the Iron and Steel Industry with Direct Reduction of Iron Ore with Green Hydrogen. *Energies.* **2020**, *13*, 758.

(5) Morfeldt, J.; Nijs, W.; Silveira, S. The Impact of Climate Targets on Future Steel Production – an Analysis Based on a Global Energy System Model. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2015**, *103*, 469–482.

(6) Chen, C.; Khosrowabadi Kotyk, J. F.; Sheehan, S. W. Progress toward Commercial Application of Electrochemical Carbon Dioxide Reduction. *Chem.* **2018**, *4* (11), 2571–2586.

(7) Zenyuk, I. V. Bridging X-Ray Computed Tomography and Computational Modeling for Electrochemical Energy-Conversion and – Storage. *Curr. Opin. Electrochem.* **2019**, *13*, 78–85.

(8) Villarraga-Gómez, H.; Herazo, E. L.; Smith, S. T. X-Ray Computed Tomography: From Medical Imaging to Dimensional Metrology. *Precision Engineering.* **2019**, *60*, 544.

(9) Salvo, L.; Cloetens, P.; Maire, E.; Zabler, S.; Blandin, J. J.; Buffière, J. Y.; Ludwig, W.; Boller, E.; Bellet, D.; Josserond, C. X-Ray Micro-Tomography an Attractive Characterisation Technique in Materials Science. *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research, Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms* **2003**, 200, 273. (10) Wang, G.; Yu, H.; De Man, B. An Outlook on X-Ray CT Research and Development. *Med. Phys.* **2008**, 35, 1051.

(11) Withers, P. J.; Bouman, C.; Carmignato, S.; Cnudde, V.; Grimaldi, D.; Hagen, C. K.; Maire, E.; Manley, M.; Du Plessis, A.; Stock, S. R. X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Nat. Rev. Methods Prim.* **2021**, *1* (1), 18 DOI: 10.1038/s43586-021-00015-4.

(12) Kulkarni, D.; Normile, S. J.; Connolly, L. G.; Zenyuk, I. V. Development of Low Temperature Fuel Cell Holders for Operando X-Ray Micro and Nano Computed Tomography to Visualize Water Distribution. *J. Phys. Energy* **2020**, *2* (4), 044005.

(13) Maire, E.; Withers, P. J. Quantitative X-Ray Tomography. Int. Mater. Rev. 2014, 59 (1), 1-43.

(14) Heenan, T. M. M.; Tan, C.; Hack, J.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R. Developments in X-Ray Tomography Characterization for Electrochemical Devices. *Mater. Today* **2019**, *31*, 69–85.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(15) Eller, J.; Marone, F.; Büchi, F. N. Operando Sub-Second Tomographic Imaging of Water in PEFC Gas Diffusion Layers. *ECS Meet. Abstr.* **2015**, *MA2015-02* (37), 1359–1359.

(16) Bührer, M.; Stampanoni, M.; Rochet, X.; Büchi, F.; Eller, J.; Marone, F. High-Numerical-Aperture Macroscope Optics for Time-Resolved Experiments. J. Synchrotron Radiat. **2019**, *26*, 1161–1172. (17) Xu, H.; Marone, F.; Nagashima, S.; Nguyen, H.; Kishita, K.; Büchi, F. N.; Eller, J. (Invited) Exploring Sub-Second and Sub-Micron X-Ray Tomographic Imaging of Liquid Water in PEFC Gas Diffusion Layers. ECS Meet. Abstr. **2019**, MA2019-02 (32), 1406–1406.

(18) Eller, J.; Roth, J.; Marone, F.; Mokso, R.; Stampanoni, M.; Wokaun, A.; Büchi, F. N. Towards Ultra-Fast X-Ray Tomographic Microscopy of Liquid Water in PEFC. *ECS Meet. Abstr.* **2011**, *MA2011-02* (16), 983–983.

(19) Kulkarni, D.; Huynh, A.; Satjaritanun, P.; O'Brien, M.; Shimpalee, S.; Parkinson, D.; Shevchenko, P.; DeCarlo, F.; Danilovic, N.; Ayers, K. E.; Capuano, C.; Zenyuk, I. V. Elucidating Effects of Catalyst Loadings and Porous Transport Layer Morphologies on Operation of Proton Exchange Membrane Water Electrolyzers. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* **2022**, 308, 121213.

(20) Komini Babu, S.; Mohamed, A. I.; Whitacre, J. F.; Litster, S. Multiple Imaging Mode X-Ray Computed Tomography for Distinguishing Active and Inactive Phases in Lithium-Ion Battery Cathodes. J. Power Sources **2015**, 283, 314–319.

(21) Vamvakeros, A.; Jacques, S. D. M.; Di Michiel, M.; Senecal, P.; Middelkoop, V.; Cernik, R. J.; Beale, A. M. Interlaced X-Ray Diffraction Computed Tomography. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2016**, *49*, 485–496.

(22) Price, S. W. T.; Ignatyev, K.; Geraki, K.; Basham, M.; Filik, J.; Vo, N. T.; Witte, P. T.; Beale, A. M.; Mosselmans, J. F. W. Chemical Imaging of Single Catalyst Particles with Scanning  $\mu$ -XANES-CT and  $\mu$ -XRF-CT. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 521.

(23) Endrizzi, M. X-Ray Phase-Contrast Imaging. Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip. 2018, 878, 88–98.

(24) Pfeiffer, F. X-Ray Ptychography. Nat. Photonics 2018, 12 (1), 9-17.

(25) Bevilacqua, N.; Eifert, L.; Banerjee, R.; Köble, K.; Faragó, T.; Zuber, M.; Bazylak, A.; Zeis, R. Visualization of Electrolyte Flow in Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries Using Synchrotron X-Ray Radiography and Tomography – Impact of Electrolyte Species and Electrode Compression. J. Power Sources **2019**, 439, 227071.

(26) Schillinger, B.; Lehmann, E.; Vontobel, P. 3D Neutron Computed Tomography: Requirements and Applications. *Phys. B Condens. Matter* 2000, 276-278, 59.

(27) Boillat, P.; Lehmann, E. H.; Trtik, P.; Cochet, M. Neutron Imaging of Fuel Cells – Recent Trends and Future Prospects. *Current Opinion in Electrochemistry.* **201**7, *5*, 3.

(28) Zhu, Y.; Wang, J.; Chu, H.; Chu, Y. C.; Chen, H. M. In Situ/ Operando Studies for Designing Next-Generation Electrocatalysts. *ACS Energy Lett.* **2020**, 5 (4), 1281–1291.

(29) Normile, S. J.; Sabarirajan, D. C.; Calzada, O.; De Andrade, V.; Xiao, X.; Mandal, P.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Serov, A.; Atanassov, P.; Zenyuk, I. V. Direct Observations of Liquid Water Formation at Nano- and Micro-Scale in Platinum Group Metal-Free Electrodes by Operando X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Mater. Today Energy* **2018**, *9*, 187–197.

(30) Braaten, J. P.; Ogawa, S.; Yarlagadda, V.; Kongkanand, A.; Litster, S. Studying Pt-Based Fuel Cell Electrode Degradation with Nanoscale X-Ray Computed Tomography. *J. Power Sources* **2020**, *478*, No. 229049.

(31) Perego, A.; Avid, A.; Mamania, D. N.; Chen, Y.; Atanassov, P.; Yildirim, H.; Odgaard, M.; Zenyuk, I. V. Investigation of Cathode Catalyst Layer Interfaces Evolution during Accelerated Stress Tests for Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* **2022**, *301*, No. 120810.

(32) Saha, P.; Khedekar, K.; Wang, H.; Atanassov, P.; Cheng, L.; Stewart, S.; Johnston, C.; Zenyuk, I. V. Correlating the Morphological Changes to Electrochemical Performance during Carbon Corrosion in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. J. Mater. Chem. A 2022, 10 (23), 12551–12562.

(33) Gebhard, M.; Tichter, T.; Schneider, J.; Mayer, J.; Hilger, A.; Osenberg, M.; Rahn, M.; Manke, I.; Roth, C. On the Stability of Bismuth in Modified Carbon Felt Electrodes for Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries: An in-Operando X-Ray Computed Tomography Study. *J. Power Sources* **2020**, *478*, 228695.

(34) Eifert, L.; Bevilacqua, N.; Köble, K.; Fahy, K.; Xiao, L.; Li, M.; Duan, K.; Bazylak, A.; Sui, P. C.; Zeis, R. Synchrotron X-Ray Radiography and Tomography of Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries— Cell Design, Electrolyte Flow Geometry, and Gas Bubble Formation. *ChemSusChem* **2020**, *13* (12), 3154–3165.

(35) Köble, K.; Eifert, L.; Bevilacqua, N.; Fahy, K. F.; Bazylak, A.; Zeis, R. Synchrotron X-Ray Radiography of Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries – Time and Spatial Resolved Electrolyte Flow in Porous Carbon Electrodes. J. Power Sources **2021**, 492, 229660.

(36) Majasan, J. O.; Iacoviello, F.; Cho, J. I. S.; Maier, M.; Lu, X.; Neville, T. P.; Dedigama, I.; Shearing, P. R.; Brett, D. J. L. Correlative Study of Microstructure and Performance for Porous Transport Layers in Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Water Electrolysers by X-Ray Computed Tomography and Electrochemical Characterization. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2019**, *44* (36), 19519–19532.

(37) Kong, Y.; Liu, M.; Hu, H.; Hou, Y.; Vesztergom, S.; Gálvezvázquez, M. D. J.; Montiel, I. Z.; Kolivoška, V.; Broekmann, P. Cracks as Efficient Tools to Mitigate Flooding in Gas Diffusion Electrodes Used for the Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide. *Small Methods* **2022**, 2200369.

(38) Nguyen, T. N.; Dinh, C. T. Gas Diffusion Electrode Design for Electrochemical Carbon Dioxide Reduction. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2020**, 49 (21), 7488–7504.

(39) Huda, W.; Abrahams, R. B. Radiographic Techniques, Contrast, and Noise in x-Ray Imaging. AJR. Am. J. Roentgenol. 2015, 204, W126.

(40) Zielke, L.; Barchasz, C.; Waluś, S.; Alloin, F.; Leprêtre, J. C.; Spettl, A.; Schmidt, V.; Hilger, A.; Manke, I.; Banhart, J.; Zengerle, R.; Thiele, S. Degradation of Li/S Battery Electrodes on 3D Current Collectors Studied Using x-Ray Phase Contrast Tomography. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, 10921 DOI: 10.1038/srep10921.

(41) Howells, M. R.; et al. An Assessment of the Resolution Limitation Due to Radiationdamage (2009). J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 2009, 170, 4–12.

(42) Schneider, A.; Wieser, C.; Roth, J.; Helfen, L. Impact of Synchrotron Radiation on Fuel Cell Operation in Imaging Experiments. *J. Power Sources* **2010**, *195* (19), 6349–6355.

(43) Roth, J.; Eller, J.; Büchi, F. N. Effects of Synchrotron Radiation on Fuel Cell Materials. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2012, 159 (8), F449–F455.

(44) Wang, J.; Morin, C.; Li, L.; Hitchcock, A. P.; Scholl, A.; Doran, A. Radiation Damage in Soft X-Ray Microscopy. J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 2009, 170 (1–3), 25–36.

(45) MacDowell, A. A.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Haboub, A.; Schaible, E.; Nasiatka, J. R.; Yee, C. A.; Jameson, J. R.; Ajo-Franklin, J. B.; Brodersen, C. R.; McElrone, A. J. X-Ray Micro-Tomography at the Advanced Light Source. *Developments in X-Ray Tomography VIII* **2012**, 850618 DOI: 10.1117/12.930243.

(46) Wang, Y.; De Carlo, F.; Mancini, D. C.; McNulty, I.; Tieman, B.; Bresnahan, J.; Foster, I.; Insley, J.; Lane, P.; Von Laszewski, G.; Kesselman, C.; Su, M. H.; Thiebaux, M. A High-Throughput x-Ray Microtomography System at the Advanced Photon Source. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2001**, *72*, 2062.

(47) Barnard, H. S.; MacDowell, A. A.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Venkatakrishnan, S. V.; Panerai, F.; Mansour, N. N. Developments in Synchrotron X-Ray Micro-Tomography for in-Situ Materials Analysis at the Advanced Light Source. *Developments in X-Ray Tomography X* **2016**, 99671H DOI: 10.1117/12.2238305.

(48) Zoomie, D. *How do Sodium Iodide* (Scintillation) Detectors Work?. Nevada Technical Associates. https://www.ntanet.net/howdo-sodium-iodide-scintillation-detectors-work/ (accessed 2022-10-07).

(49) Diaz, A.; Trtik, P.; Guizar-Sicairos, M.; Menzel, A.; Thibault, P.; Bunk, O. Quantitative X-Ray Phase Nanotomography. *Phys. Rev. B* - Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 2012, 85, 020104 DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevB.85.020104.

(50) Shapiro, D. A.; Yu, Y. S.; Tyliszczak, T.; Cabana, J.; Celestre, R.; Chao, W.; Kaznatcheev, K.; Kilcoyne, A. L. D.; Maia, F.; Marchesini, S.; Meng, Y. S.; Warwick, T.; Yang, L. L.; Padmore, H. A. Chemical Composition Mapping with Nanometre Resolution by Soft X-Ray Microscopy. *Nat. Photonics* **2014**, *8*, 765.

(51) Deng, J.; Yao, Y.; Jiang, Y.; Chen, S.; Klug, J. A.; Wojcik, M.; Marin, F.; Preissner, C. A.; Roehrig, C.; Cai, Z.; Vogt, S.; Lai, B. Instrumentation and Method Developments of X-Ray Ptychography at the Advanced Photon Source. *X-Ray Nanoimaging: Instruments and Methods IV* **2019**, 111120E DOI: 10.1117/12.2529805.

(52) Cloetens, P.; Ludwig, W.; Baruchel, J.; Van Dyck, D.; Van Landuyt, J.; Guigay, J. P.; Schlenker, M. Holotomography: Quantitative Phase Tomography with Micrometer Resolution Using Hard Synchrotron Radiation x Rays. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1999**, *75*, 2912.

(53) Mokso, R.; Cloetens, P.; Maire, E.; Ludwig, W.; Buffière, J. Y. Nanoscale Zoom Tomography with Hard x Rays Using Kirkpatrick-Baez Optics. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2007**, 144104.

(54) Tkachuk, A.; Duewer, F.; Cui, H.; Feser, M.; Wang, S.; Yun, W. X-Ray Computed Tomography in Zernike Phase Contrast Mode at 8 keV with 50-nm Resolution Using Cu Rotating Anode X-Ray Source. *Zeitschrift fur Krist.* **2007**, *222*, 650.

(55) Epting, W. K.; Gelb, J.; Litster, S. Resolving the Three-Dimensional Microstructure of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cell Electrodes Using Nanometer-Scale X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2012**, *22* (3), 555–560.

(56) Wargo, E. A.; Kotaka, T.; Tabuchi, Y.; Kumbur, E. C. Comparison of Focused Ion Beam versus Nano-Scale X-Ray Computed Tomography for Resolving 3-D Microstructures of Porous Fuel Cell Materials. *J. Power Sources* **2013**, *241*, 608–618.

(57) Komini Babu, S.; Mohamed, A. I.; Whitacre, J. F.; Litster, S. Multiple Imaging Mode X-Ray Computed Tomography for Distinguishing Active and Inactive Phases in Lithium-Ion Battery Cathodes. J. Power Sources **2015**, 283, 314–319.

(58) Bravin, A.; Coan, P.; Suortti, P. X-Ray Phase-Contrast Imaging: From Pre-Clinical Applications towards Clinics. *Phys. Med. Biol.* **2013**, 58 (1), R1.

(59) Pfeiffer, F.; Weitkamp, T.; Bunk, O.; David, C. Phase Retrieval and Differential Phase-Contrast Imaging with Low-Brilliance X-Ray Sources. *Nat. Phys.* **2006**, *2* (4), 258–261.

(60) Paganin, D. M. *Coherent X-Ray Optics*; Oxford Science Publications, 2013.

(61) Haggmark, I.; Vagberg, W.; Hertz, H. M.; Burvall, A. Comparison of Quantitative Multi-Material Phase- Retrieval Algorithms in Propagation-Based Phase-Contrast X-Ray Tomography. *Opt. Express* **201**7, *25* (26), 33543–33558.

(62) Burvall, A.; Lundström, U.; Takman, P. A. C.; Larsson, D. H.; Hertz, H. M. Phase Retrieval in X-Ray Phase-Contrast Imaging Suitable for Tomography. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19* (11), 10359.

(63) Moosmann, J.; Hofmann, R.; Baumbach, T. Single-Distance Phase Retrieval at Large Phase Shifts. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19* (13), 12066.

(64) Lohse, L. M.; Robisch, A. L.; Töpperwien, M.; Maretzke, S.; Krenkel, M.; Hagemann, J.; Salditt, T. A Phase-Retrieval Toolbox for X-Ray Holography and Tomography. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2020**, *27*, 852–859.

(65) Yu, B.; Weber, L.; Pacureanu, A.; Langer, M.; Olivier, C.; Cloetens, P.; Peyrin, F. Evaluation of Phase Retrieval Approaches in Magnified X-Ray Phase Nano Computerized Tomography Applied to Bone Tissue. *Opt. Express* **2018**, *26* (9), 11110.

(66) Dowd, B. A.; Campbell, G. H.; Marr, R. B.; Nagarkar, V. V.; Tipnis, S. V.; Axe, L.; Siddons, D. P. Developments in Synchrotron X-Ray Computed Microtomography at the National Synchrotron Light Source. *Dev. X-Ray Tomogr. II* **1999**, 3772, 224–236.

(67) Kak, A. C.; Slaney, M. Principles of Computerized Tomographic Imaging; IEEE Press, 1988.

(68) Mohan, K. A.; Venkatakrishnan, S. V.; Drummy, L. F.; Simmons, J.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Bouman, C. A. Model-Based Iterative Reconstruction for Synchrotron X-Ray Tomography. ICASSP, IEEE Int. Conf. Acoust. Speech Signal Process. - Proc. 2014, 6909–6913, DOI: 10.1109/ICASSP.2014.6854939.

(69) Zhang, R.; Thibault, J. B.; Bouman, C. A.; Sauer, K. D.; Hsieh, J. Model-Based Iterative Reconstruction for Dual-Energy X-Ray Ct Using a Joint Quadratic Likelihood Model. *IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging* **2014**, 33 (1), 117–134.

(70) Weitkamp, T.; Diaz, A.; David, C.; Pfeiffer, F.; Stampanoni, M.; Cloetens, P.; Ziegler, E. X-Ray Phase Imaging with a Grating Interferometer. *Opt. Express* **2005**, *13* (16), 6296.

(71) Groso, A.; Abela, R.; Stampanoni, M. Implementation of a Fast Method for High Resolution Phase Contrast Tomography. *Opt. Express* **2006**, *14* (18), 8103.

(72) The ASTRA Toolbox. https://www.astra-toolbox.com/ (accessed 2023-02-15).

(73) *TomoPy*. https://tomopy.readthedocs.io/en/stable/ (accessed 2023-02-15).

(74) Bouman, C. A. SVMBIR. https://github.com/cabouman/ svmbirhttps://github.com/cabouman/svmbir/ (accessed 2023-02-15).

(75) Hendriksen, A. A.; Bührer, M.; Leone, L.; Merlini, M.; Vigano, N.; Pelt, D. M.; Marone, F.; di Michiel, M.; Batenburg, K. J. Deep Denoising for Multi-Dimensional Synchrotron X-Ray Tomography without High-Quality Reference Data. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, *11* (1), 1–13.

(76) Batenburg, K. J. Fast Tomographic Reconstruction From Limited Data Using Artificial Neural Networks. *IEEE Trans. Image Process.* **2013**, *22* (12), 5238–5251.

(77) Vo, N. T.; Atwood, R. C.; Drakopoulos, M.; Connolley, T. Data Processing Methods and Data Acquisition for Samples Larger than the Field of View in Parallel-Beam Tomography. *Opt. Express* **2021**, 29 (12), 17849.

(78) Pelt, D. M.; Gürsoy, D.; Palenstijn, W. J.; Sijbers, J.; De Carlo, F.; Batenburg, K. J. Integration of TomoPy and the ASTRA Toolbox for Advanced Processing and Reconstruction of Tomographic Synchrotron Data. J. Synchrotron Radiat. **2016**, 23, 842.

(79) Schindelin, J.; Arganda-Carreras, I.; Frise, E.; Kaynig, V.; Longair, M.; Pietzsch, T.; Preibisch, S.; Rueden, C.; Saalfeld, S.; Schmid, B.; Tinevez, J. Y.; White, D. J.; Hartenstein, V.; Eliceiri, K.; Tomancak, P.; Cardona, A. Fiji: An Open-Source Platform for Biological-Image Analysis. *Nature Methods.* **2012**, *9*, 676.

(80) Hall, M. E.; Black, M. S.; Gold, G. E.; Levenston, M. E. Validation of Watershed-Based Segmentation of the Cartilage Surface from Sequential CT Arthrography Scans. *Quant. Imaging Med. Surg.* **2022**, *12*, 1.

(81) Lu, Y.; Jiang, Z.; Zhou, T.; Fu, S. An Improved Watershed Segmentation Algorithm of Medical Tumor Image. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* **2019**, 677, 042028 DOI: 10.1088/1757-899X/677/4/042028.

(82) Vincent, L.; Soille, P. Watersheds in Digital Spaces: An Efficient Algorithm Based on Immersion Simulations. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* **1991**, *13*, 583.

(83) Dhanachandra, N.; Manglem, K.; Chanu, Y. J. Image Segmentation Using K-Means Clustering Algorithm and Subtractive Clustering Algorithm. *Procedia Computer Science* **2015**, 764 DOI: 10.1016/j.procs.2015.06.090.

(84) Kadhim, W. D.; Abdoon, R. S. Utilizing K-Means Clustering to Extract Bone Tumor in CT Scan and MRI Images. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* **2020**, 012010 DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/1591/1/012010.

(85) Lee, T. H.; Fauzi, M. F. A.; Komiya, R. Segmentation of CT Brain Images Using K-Means and EM Clustering. *Proceedings -Computer Graphics, Imaging and Visualisation, Modern Techniques and Applications, CGIV* **2008**, 339 DOI: 10.1109/CGIV.2008.17.

(86) Canny, J. A Computational Approach to Edge Detection. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* **1986**, *PAMI-8*, 679.

(87) Yao, W.; Abolmaesumi, P.; Greenspan, M.; Ellis, R. E. An Estimation/Correction Algorithm for Detecting Bone Edges in CT Images. *IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging* **2005**, *24*, 997.

(89) Arganda-Carreras, I.; Kaynig, V.; Rueden, C.; Eliceiri, K. W.; Schindelin, J.; Cardona, A.; Seung, H. S. Trainable Weka Segmentation: A Machine Learning Tool for Microscopy Pixel Classification. *Bioinformatics* **2017**, *33*, 2424.

(90) Berg, S.; Kutra, D.; Kroeger, T.; Straehle, C. N.; Kausler, B. X.; Haubold, C.; Schiegg, M.; Ales, J.; Beier, T.; Rudy, M.; Eren, K.; Cervantes, J. I.; Xu, B.; Beuttenmueller, F.; Wolny, A.; Zhang, C.; Koethe, U.; Hamprecht, F. A.; Kreshuk, A. Ilastik: Interactive Machine Learning for (Bio)Image Analysis. *Nat. Methods* **2019**, *16* (12), 1226–1232.

(91) Ronneberger, O.; Fischer, P.; Brox, T. U-Net: Convolutional Networks for Biomedical Image Segmentation. *Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention – MICCAI 2015* **2015**, 9351, 234 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-24574-4\_28.

(92) Zhou, Z.; Rahman Siddiquee, M. M.; Tajbakhsh, N.; Liang, J. Unet++: A Nested u-Net Architecture for Medical Image Segmentation. Deep Learning in Medical Image Analysis and Multi-modal Learning for Clinical Decision Support. DLMIA ML-CDS 2018 2018, 11045, 3 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-00889-5 1.

(93) Su, Z.; Decencière, E.; Nguyen, T. T.; El-Amiry, K.; De Andrade, V.; Franco, A. A.; Demortière, A. Artificial Neural Network Approach for Multiphase Segmentation of Battery Electrode Nano-CT Images. *npj Comput. Mater.* **2022**, *8* (1), 30 DOI: 10.1038/ s41524-022-00709-7.

(94) Li, J.; Sharma, N.; Jiang, Z.; Yang, Y.; Monaco, F.; Xu, Z.; Hou, D.; Ratner, D.; Pianetta, P.; Cloetens, P.; Lin, F.; Zhao, K.; Liu, Y. Dynamics of Particle Network in Composite Battery Cathodes. *Science* (80-.) **2022**, 376 (6592), 517–521.

(95) Çiçek, Ö.; Abdulkadir, A.; Lienkamp, S. S.; Brox, T.; Ronneberger, O. 3D U-Net: Learning Dense Volumetric Segmentation from Sparse Annotation. *Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention – MICCAI 2016* **2016**, 9901, 424 DOI: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-46723-8 49.

(96) Oktay, O.; Schlemper, J.; Folgoc, L.; Lee, M.; Heinrich, M.; Misawa, K.; Mori, K.; McDonagh, S.; Hammerla, N. Y.; Kainz, B.; Glocker, B.; Rueckert, D. Attention U-Net: Learning Where to Look for the Pancreas. *arXiv* **2018**, 1804.03999 DOI: 10.48550/ arXiv.1804.03999.

(97) Turečková, A.; Tureček, T.; Komínková Oplatková, Z.; Rodríguez-Sánchez, A. Improving CT Image Tumor Segmentation Through Deep Supervision and Attentional Gates. *Front. Robot. AI* **2020**, 7, 106 DOI: 10.3389/frobt.2020.00106.

(98) Shum, A. D.; Liu, C. P.; Lim, W. H.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Zenyuk, I. V. Using Machine Learning Algorithms for Water Segmentation in Gas Diffusion Layers of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *Transp. Porous Media* **2022**, *144* (3), 715–737.

(99) Badran, A.; Parkinson, D.; Ushizima, D.; Marshall, D.; Maillet, E. Validation of Deep Learning Segmentation of CT Images of Fiber-Reinforced Composites. *J. Compos. Sci.* **2022**, *6*, 60.

(100) Taud, H.; Martinez-Angeles, R.; Parrot, J. F.; Hernandez-Escobedo, L. Porosity Estimation Method by X-Ray Computed Tomography. J. Pet. Sci. Eng. **2005**, 47 (3), 209–217.

(101) Kulkarni, D.; Huynh, A.; Satjaritanun, P.; O'Brien, M.; Shimpalee, S.; Parkinson, D.; Shevchenko, P.; DeCarlo, F.; Danilovic, N.; Ayers, K. E.; Capuano, C.; Zenyuk, I. V. Elucidating Effects of Catalyst Loadings and Porous Transport Layer Morphologies on Operation of Proton Exchange Membrane Water Electrolyzers. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* **2022**, *308*, No. 121213.

(102) Leonard, E.; Shum, A. D.; Danilovic, N.; Capuano, C.; Ayers, K. E.; Pant, L. M.; Weber, A. Z.; Xiao, X.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Zenyuk, I. V. Interfacial Analysis of a PEM Electrolyzer Using X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Sustain. Energy Fuels* **2020**, *4*, 921–931.

(103) Zenyuk, I. V.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Hwang, G.; Weber, A. Z. Probing Water Distribution in Compressed Fuel-Cell Gas-Diffusion Layers Using X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochem. commun.* **2015**, 53, 24–28. (104) Eller, J.; Rosén, T.; Marone, F.; Stampanoni, M.; Wokaun, A.; Büchi, F. N. Progress in In Situ X-Ray Tomographic Microscopy of Liquid Water in Gas Diffusion Layers of PEFC. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2011**, *158* (8), B963.

(105) Schuler, T.; Ciccone, J. M.; Krentscher, B.; Marone, F.; Peter, C.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Hierarchically Structured Porous Transport Layers for Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolysis. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2020**, *10* (2), 1903216.

(106) Zenyuk, I. V.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Connolly, L. G.; Weber, A. Z. Gas-Diffusion-Layer Structural Properties under Compression via X-Ray Tomography. *J. Power Sources* **2016**, *328*, 364–376.

(107) Hildebrand, T.; Rüegsegger, P. A New Method for the Model-Independent Assessment of Thickness in Three-Dimensional Images. *J. Microsc.* **1997**, *185* (1), *67–75*.

(108) Saito, T.; Toriwaki, J.-I. New Algorithms for Euclidean Distance Transformation of an N-Dimensional Digitized Picture with Applications. *Pattern Recognit.* **1994**, *27* (11), 1551–1565.

(109) Billaud, J.; Bouville, F.; Magrini, T.; Villevieille, C.; Studart, A. R. Magnetically Aligned Graphite Electrodes for High-Rate Performance Li-Ion Batteries. *Nat. Energy* **2016**, *1* (8), 16097.

(110) Suzuki, T.; Okada, S.; Tsushima, S. Analysis of Ionomer Distribution and Pt/C Agglomerate Size in Catalyst Layers by Two-Stage Ion-Beam Processing. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2020**, *167* (12), 124513.

(111) Satjaritanun, P.; Weidner, J. W.; Hirano, S.; Lu, Z.; Khunatorn, Y.; Ogawa, S.; Litster, S. E.; Shum, A. D.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Shimpalee, S. Micro-Scale Analysis of Liquid Water Breakthrough inside Gas Diffusion Layer for PEMFC Using X-Ray Computed Tomography and Lattice Boltzmann Method. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2017**, *164* (11), E3359–E3371.

(112) Bultreys, T.; De Boever, W.; Cnudde, V. Imaging and Image-Based Fluid Transport Modeling at the Pore Scale in Geological Materials: A Practical Introduction to the Current State-of-the-Art. *Earth-Science Rev.* **2016**, *155*, 93–128.

(113) Cooper, S. J.; Bertei, A.; Shearing, P. R.; Kilner, J. A.; Brandon, N. P. TauFactor: An Open-Source Application for Calculating Tortuosity Factors from Tomographic Data. *SoftwareX* **2016**, *5*, 203–210.

(114) White, R. T.; Wu, A.; Najm, M.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. 4D in Situ Visualization of Electrode Morphology Changes during Accelerated Degradation in Fuel Cells by X-Ray Computed Tomography. *J. Power Sources* **2017**, *350*, 94–102.

(115) Hack, J.; Rasha, L.; Cullen, P. L.; Bailey, J. J.; Neville, T. P.; Shearing, P. R.; Brandon, N. P.; Brett, D. J. L. Use of X-Ray Computed Tomography for Understanding Localised, along-the-Channel Degradation of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *Electrochim. Acta* **2020**, 352, No. 136464.

(116) Khedekar, K.; Rezaei Talarposhti, M.; Besli, M. M.; Kuppan, S.; Perego, A.; Chen, Y.; Metzger, M.; Stewart, S.; Atanassov, P.; Tamura, N.; Craig, N.; Cheng, L.; Johnston, C. M.; Zenyuk, I. V. Probing Heterogeneous Degradation of Catalyst in PEM Fuel Cells under Realistic Automotive Conditions with Multi-Modal Techniques. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2021**, *11* (35), 2101794.

(117) Peng, X.; Kulkarni, D.; Huang, Y.; Omasta, T. J.; Ng, B.; Zheng, Y.; Wang, L.; LaManna, J. M.; Hussey, D. S.; Varcoe, J. R.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Mustain, W. E. Using Operando Techniques to Understand and Design High Performance and Stable Alkaline Membrane Fuel Cells. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11* (1), 3561 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-17370-7.

(118) Hack, J.; Heenan, T. M. M.; Iacoviello, F.; Mansor, N.; Meyer, Q.; Shearing, P.; Brandon, N.; Brett, D. J. L. A Structure and Durability Comparison of Membrane Electrode Assembly Fabrication Methods: Self-Assembled Versus Hot-Pressed. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2018**, *165* (6), F3045–F3052.

(119) Meyer, Q.; Mansor, N.; Iacoviello, F.; Cullen, P. L.; Jervis, R.; Finegan, D.; Tan, C.; Bailey, J.; Shearing, P. R.; Brett, D. J. L. Investigation of Hot Pressed Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cell Assemblies via X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochim. Acta* **2017**, 242, 125–136. (120) Zenyuk, I. V.; Lamibrac, A.; Eller, J.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Marone, F.; Büchi, F. N.; Weber, A. Z. Investigating Evaporation in Gas Diffusion Layers for Fuel Cells with X-Ray Computed Tomography. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120 (50), 28701–28711.

(121) Zenyuk, I. V.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Hwang, G.; Weber, A. Z. Probing Water Distribution in Compressed Fuel-Cell Gas-Diffusion Layers Using X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochem. commun.* **2015**, 53, 24–28.

(122) Shum, A. D.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Xiao, X.; Weber, A. Z.; Burheim, O. S.; Zenyuk, I. V. Investigating Phase-Change-Induced Flow in Gas Diffusion Layers in Fuel Cells with X-ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochim. Acta* **2017**, *256*, 279–290.

(123) Satjaritanun, P.; O'Brien, M.; Kulkarni, D.; Shimpalee, S.; Capuano, C.; Ayers, K.; Danilovic, N.; Parkinson, D.; Zenyuk, I. IScience Observation of Preferential Pathways for Oxygen Removal through Porous Transport Layers of Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolyzers Observation of Preferential Pathways for Oxygen Removal through Porous Transport Layers of Polymer Electrolyte Wate. *ISCIENCE* **2020**, *23* (12), No. 101783.

(124) De Angelis, S.; Schuler, T.; Charalambous, M. A.; Marone, F.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Unraveling Two-Phase Transport in Porous Transport Layer Materials for Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolysis. J. Mater. Chem. A **2021**, 9 (38), 22102–22113.

(125) Su, Z.; Nguyen, T.; Le Bourlot, C.; Cadiou, F.; Jamali, A.; De Andrade, V.; Franco, A. A.; Demortière, A. Towards a Local In Situ X-ray Nano Computed Tomography under Realistic Cycling Conditions for Battery Research. *Chemistry–Methods* **2022**, *2* (5), e202100051.

(126) Morawe, C.; Barrett, R.; Cloetens, P.; Lantelme, B.; Peffen, J.-C.; Vivo, A. Graded Multilayers for Figured Kirkpatrick-Baez Mirrors on the New ESRF End Station ID16A. *Advances in X-Ray/EUV Optics and Components X* **2015**, 958803 DOI: 10.1117/12.2189279.

(127) Martinez-Criado, G.; Villanova, J.; Tucoulou, R.; Salomon, D.; Suuronen, J. P.; Laboure, S.; Guilloud, C.; Valls, V.; Barrett, R.; Gagliardini, E.; Dabin, Y.; Baker, R.; Bohic, S.; Cohen, C.; Morse, J. ID16B: A Hard X-Ray Nanoprobe Beamline at the ESRF for Nano-Analysis. *Journal of Synchrotron Radiation* **2016**, *23*, 344.

(128) ESRF. *ID16A* - *Nano-Imaging Beamline*. https://www.esrf.fr/ UsersAndScience/Experiments/XNP/ID16A/ (accessed 2023-02-15) (129) ESRF. *ID16B* - *Nano-Analysis Beamline*. https://www.esrf.fr/

UsersAndScience/Experiments/XNP/ID16B/ (accessed 2023-02-15) (130) Brookhaven National Laboratory. *National Synchrotron Light Source II 18-ID FXI*. https://www.bnl.gov/nsls2/beamlines/beamline.php?r=18-ID/ (accessed 2023-02-15)

(131) Coburn, D. S.; Nazaretski, E.; Xu, W.; Ge, M.; Longo, C.; Xu, H.; Gofron, K.; Yin, Z.; Chen, H. H.; Hwu, Y.; Lee, W. K. Design, Characterization, and Performance of a Hard x-Ray Transmission Microscope at the National Synchrotron Light Source II 18-ID Beamline. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2019**, 053701 DOI: 10.1063/1.5088124. (132) Advanced Photon Source. *Beamline 32-ID-B,C: Full Field* 

Imaging & Transmission X-ray Microscopy. https://www.aps.anl.gov/ Imaging/ (accessed 2023-02-15)

(133) Shu, D.; De Andrade, V.; Anton, J.; Kearney, S.; Fezzaa, K.; Bean, S.; Deriy, A.; Liu, W.; Maser, J.; Lai, B.; Tischler, J.; De Carlo, F. Mechanical Design of a Flexural Nanopositioning Stage System for Hard X-Ray Nanofocusing at the Advanced Photon Source 32-ID-C Station. X-Ray Nanoimaging: Instruments and Methods IV 2019, 11112, 111120N DOI: 10.1117/12.2529384.

(134) Shen, Q.; Lee, W. K.; Fezzaa, K.; Chu, Y. S.; De Carlo, F.; Jemian, P.; Ilavsky, J.; Erdmann, M.; Long, G. G. Dedicated Full-Field X-Ray Imaging Beamline at Advanced Photon Source. *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.* **2007**, 582, 77.

(135) Stanford Synchrotron Radiation Light Source. *Experimental Station 6-2c*. https://www-ssrl.slac.stanford.edu/content/beam-lines/bl6-2c/ (accessed 2023-02-15)

(136) Liu, Y.; Andrews, J. C.; Meirer, F.; Mehta, A.; Gil, S. C.; Sciau, P.; Mester, Z.; Pianetta, P. Applications of Hard X-Ray Full-Field Transmission X-Ray Microscopy at SSRL. *AIP Conference Proceedings* **2010**, 357–360, DOI: 10.1063/1.3625377.

(137) SPring-8. BL20XU Outline. http://www.spring8.or.jp/wkg/ BL20XU/instrument/lang-en/INS-0000000286/instrument\_summary view/ (accessed 2023-02-15)

(138) Takeuchi, A.; Uesugi, K.; Uesugi, M.; Toda, H.; Hirayama, K.; Shimizu, K.; Matsuo, K.; Nakamura, T. High-Energy x-Ray Nano-tomography Introducing an Apodization Fresnel Zone Plate Objective Lens. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2021**, 023701 DOI: 10.1063/5.0020293.

(139) Komini Babu, S.; Chung, H. T.; Zelenay, P.; Litster, S. Resolving Electrode Morphology's Impact on Platinum Group Metal-Free Cathode Performance Using Nano-CT of 3D Hierarchical Pore and Ionomer Distribution. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 32764.

(140) Cetinbas, F. C.; Ahluwalia, R. K.; Kariuki, N. N.; Myers, D. J. Agglomerates in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cell Electrodes: Part I. *Structural Characterization. J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2018**, *165* (13), F1051-F1058.

(141) Normile, S. J.; Zenyuk, I. V. Imaging Ionomer in Fuel Cell Catalyst Layers with Synchrotron Nano Transmission X-Ray Microscopy. *Solid State Ionics* **2019**, 335, 38–46.

(142) Zaccarine, S. F.; Shviro, M.; Weker, J. N.; Dzara, M. J.; Foster, J.; Carmo, M.; Pylypenko, S. Multi-Scale Multi-Technique Characterization Approach for Analysis of PEM Electrolyzer Catalyst Layer Degradation. J. Electrochem. Soc. **2022**, *169* (6), No. 064502.

(143) Fan, J.; Chen, M.; Zhao, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Ye, S.; Xu, S.; Wang, H.; Li, H. Bridging the Gap between Highly Active Oxygen Reduction Reaction Catalysts and Effective Catalyst Layers for Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells. *Nat. Energy* **2021**, *6* (5), 475–486.

(144) Kodama, K.; Nagai, T.; Kuwaki, A.; Jinnouchi, R.; Morimoto, Y. Challenges in Applying Highly Active Pt-Based Nanostructured Catalysts for Oxygen Reduction Reactions to Fuel Cell Vehicles. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2021**, *16* (2), 140–147.

(145) Kabir, S.; Lemire, K.; Artyushkova, K.; Roy, A.; Odgaard, M.; Schlueter, D.; Oshchepkov, A.; Bonnefont, A.; Savinova, E.; Sabarirajan, D. C.; Mandal, P.; Crumlin, E. J.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Atanassov, P.; Serov, A. Platinum Group Metal-Free NiMo Hydrogen Oxidation Catalysts: High Performance and Durability in Alkaline Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2017**, *5* (46), 24433–24443.

(146) Serov, A.; Shum, A. D.; Xiao, X.; De Andrade, V.; Artyushkova, K.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Atanassov, P. Nano-Structured Platinum Group Metal-Free Catalysts and Their Integration in Fuel Cell Electrode Architectures. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* **2018**, 237, 1139–1147.

(147) Wu, G.; Johnston, C. M.; MacK, N. H.; Artyushkova, K.; Ferrandon, M.; Nelson, M.; Lezama-Pacheco, J. S.; Conradson, S. D.; More, K. L.; Myers, D. J.; Zelenay, P. Synthesis-Structure-Performance Correlation for Polyaniline-Me-C Non-Precious Metal Cathode Catalysts for Oxygen Reduction in Fuel Cells. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21* (30), 11392–11405.

(148) Artyushkova, K.; Serov, A.; Rojas-Carbonell, S.; Atanassov, P. Chemistry of Multitudinous Active Sites for Oxygen Reduction Reaction in Transition Metal-Nitrogen-Carbon Electrocatalysts. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2015, *119* (46), 25917–25928.

(149) Serov, A.; Robson, M. H.; Smolnik, M.; Atanassov, P. Tri-Metallic Transition Metal-Nitrogen-Carbon Catalysts Derived Bysacrificial Support Method Synthesis. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *109*, 433.

(150) Kramm, U. I.; Herrmann-Geppert, I.; Behrends, J.; Lips, K.; Fiechter, S.; Bogdanoff, P. On an Easy Way to Prepare Metal-Nitrogen Doped Carbon with Exclusive Presence of MeN4-Type Sites Active for the ORR. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138* (2), 635–640.

(151) Jia, Q.; Ramaswamy, N.; Tylus, U.; Strickland, K.; Li, J.; Serov, A.; Artyushkova, K.; Atanassov, P.; Anibal, J.; Gumeci, C.; Barton, S. C.; Sougrati, M. T.; Jaouen, F.; Halevi, B.; Mukerjee, S. Spectroscopic Insights into the Nature of Active Sites in Iron–Nitrogen–Carbon Electrocatalysts for Oxygen Reduction in Acid. *Nano Energy.* 2016, 29, 65.

(152) Jia, Q.; Ramaswamy, N.; Hafiz, H.; Tylus, U.; Strickland, K.; Wu, G.; Barbiellini, B.; Bansil, A.; Holby, E. F.; Zelenay, P.; Mukerjee, S. Experimental Observation of Redox-Induced Fe-N Switching

Review

Behavior as a Determinant Role for Oxygen Reduction Activity. ACS Nano 2015, 9, 12496.

(153) Barnard, H. S.; Macdowell, A.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Larson, N. M.; Peterson, J. C.; Panerai, F.; Mansour, N. N.; Gao, Y. Synchrotron X-Ray Micro Tomography at the Advanced Light Source: In-Situ Sample Environments for Advanced Aerospace Materials. *Microsc. Microanal.* **2018**, *24* (S2), 444–445.

(154) Huang, Y.; Chen, Y.; Xu, M.; Asset, T.; Tieu, P.; Gili, A.; Kulkarni, D.; De Andrade, V.; De Carlo, F.; Barnard, H. S.; Doran, A.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Pan, X.; Atanassov, P.; Zenyuk, I. V. Catalysts by Pyrolysis: Direct Observation of Chemical and Morphological Transformations Leading to Transition Metal-Nitrogen-Carbon Materials. *Mater. Today* **2021**, *47*, 53.

(155) Litster, S.; Hess, K.; Epting, W.; Gelb, J. Catalyst Layer Analysis: Nanoscale X-Ray CT, Spatially-Resolved In Situ Microscale Diagnostics, and Modeling. *ECS Trans.* **2011**, *41*, 409.

(156) Weber, A. Z.; Borup, R. L.; Darling, R. M.; Das, P. K.; Dursch, T. J.; Gu, W.; Harvey, D.; Kusoglu, A.; Litster, S.; Mench, M. M.; Mukundan, R.; Owejan, J. P.; Pharoah, J. G.; Secanell, M.; Zenyuk, I. V. A Critical Review of Modeling Transport Phenomena in Polymer-Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2014**, *161* (12), F1254–F1299.

(157) Novák, V.; Dudák, M.; Kočí, P.; Marek, M. Understanding the Gas Transport in Porous Catalyst Layers by Using Digital Reconstruction Techniques. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng.* 2015, 9, 16–26. (158) Shum, A. D.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Xiao, X.; Weber, A. Z.; Burheim, O. S.; Zenyuk, I. V. Investigating Phase-Change-Induced Flow in Gas Diffusion Layers in Fuel Cells with X-ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochim. Acta* 2017, 256, 279.

(159) Zenyuk, I. V.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Hwang, G.; Weber, A. Z. Probing Water Distribution in Compressed Fuel-Cell Gas-Diffusion Layers Using X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Electrochem. commun.* **2015**, 53, 24.

(160) Komini Babu, S.; Chung, H. T.; Wu, G.; Zelenay, P.; Litster, S. Modeling Hierarchical Non-Precious Metal Catalyst Cathodes for PEFCs Using Multi-Scale X-Ray CT Imaging. *ECS Trans.* **2014**, *64*, 281.

(161) Hack, J.; Patel, D.; Bailey, J. J.; Iacoviello, F.; Shearing, P. R.; Brett, D. J. L. In Situ X-Ray Computed Tomography of Zinc-Air Primary Cells during Discharge: Correlating Discharge Rate to Anode Morphology. J. Phys. Mater. **2022**, *5*, 014001.

(162) Chen, Y.; Huang, Y.; Xu, M.; Asset, T.; Yan, X.; Artyushkova, K.; Kodali, M.; Murphy, E.; Ly, A.; Pan, X.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Atanassov, P. Catalysts by Pyrolysis: Direct Observation of Transformations during Re-Pyrolysis of Transition Metal-Nitrogen-Carbon Materials Leading to State-of-the-Art Platinum Group Metal-Free Electrocatalyst. *Mater. Today* **2022**, *53*, 58.

(163) Liu, S.; Li, C.; Zachman, M. J.; Zeng, Y.; Yu, H.; Li, B.; Wang, M.; Braaten, J.; Liu, J.; Iii, H. M. M.; Lucero, M.; Kropf, A. J.; Alp, E. E.; Gong, Q.; Shi, Q.; Feng, Z.; Xu, H.; Wang, G.; Myers, D. J.; Xie, J.; Cullen, D. A.; Litster, S. Atomically Dispersed Iron Sites with a Nitrogen–Carbon Coating as Highly Active and Durable Oxygen Reduction Catalysts for Fuel Cells. *Nat. Energy* **2022**, *7*, 652–663, DOI: 10.1038/s41560-022-01062-1.

(164) Li, J.; Sougrati, M. T.; Zitolo, A.; Ablett, J. M.; Oğuz, I. C.; Mineva, T.; Matanovic, I.; Atanassov, P.; Huang, Y.; Zenyuk, I.; Di Cicco, A.; Kumar, K.; Dubau, L.; Maillard, F.; Dražić, G.; Jaouen, F. Identification of Durable and Non-Durable FeNx Sites in Fe–N–C Materials for Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells. *Nat. Catal.* **2021**, *4*, 10.

(165) Meirer, F.; Cabana, J.; Liu, Y.; Mehta, A.; Andrews, J. C.; Pianetta, P. Three-Dimensional Imaging of Chemical Phase Transformations at the Nanoscale with Full-Field Transmission X-Ray Microscopy. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2011**, *18*, 773.

(166) Jiang, Z.; Li, J.; Yang, Y.; Mu, L.; Wei, C.; Yu, X.; Pianetta, P.; Zhao, K.; Cloetens, P.; Lin, F.; Liu, Y. Machine-Learning-Revealed Statistics of the Particle-Carbon/Binder Detachment in Lithium-Ion Battery Cathodes. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, 2310 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-16233-5. (167) Khedekar, K.; Satjaritanun, P.; Stewart, S.; Braaten, J.; Atanassov, P.; Tamura, N.; Cheng, L.; Johnston, C. M.; Zenyuk, I. V. Effect of Commercial Gas Diffusion Layers on Catalyst Durability of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells in Varied Cathode Gas Environment. *Small* **2022**, *18* (33), 2201750.

(168) Cheng, L.; Khedekar, K.; Rezaei Talarposhti, M.; Perego, A.; Metzger, M.; Kuppan, S.; Stewart, S.; Atanassov, P.; Tamura, N.; Craig, N.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Johnston, C. M. Mapping of Heterogeneous Catalyst Degradation in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2020**, *10* (28), 2000623.

(169) Moss, A. B.; Hätinen, J.; Kúš, P.; Garg, S.; Mirolo, M.; Chorkendorff, I.; Seger, B.; Drnec, J. Versatile High Energy X-Ray Transparent Electrolysis Cell for Operando Measurements. *J. Power Sources* **2023**, *562*, 232754.

(170) Kato, S.; Yamaguchi, S.; Yoshimune, W.; Matsuoka, Y.; Kato, A.; Nagai, Y.; Suzuki, T. Ex-Situ Visualization of the Wet Domain in the Microporous Layer in a Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cell by X-Ray Computed Tomography under Water Vapor Supply. *Electrochem. commun.* **2020**, *111*, No. 106644.

(171) Liu, J.; Talarposhti, M. R.; Asset, T.; Sabarirajan, D. C.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Atanassov, P.; Zenyuk, I. V. Understanding the Role of Interfaces for Water Management in Platinum Group Metal-Free Electrodes in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *ACS Appl. Energy Mater.* **2019**, *2* (5), 3542–3553.

(172) Meyer, Q.; Zeng, Y.; Zhao, C. In Situ and Operando Characterization of Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31* (40), 1901900.

(173) Csoklich, C.; Xu, H.; Marone, F.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Laser Structured Gas Diffusion Layers for Improved Water Transport and Fuel Cell Performance. *ACS Appl. Energy Mater.* **2021**, *4* (11), 12808–12818.

(174) Nagai, Y.; Eller, J.; Hatanaka, T.; Yamaguchi, S.; Kato, S.; Kato, A.; Marone, F.; Xu, H.; Büchi, F. N. Improving Water Management in Fuel Cells through Microporous Layer Modifications: Fast Operando Tomographic Imaging of Liquid Water. *J. Power Sources* **2019**, 435 (June), 226809.

(175) Shrestha, P.; Ouellette, D.; Lee, J.; Ge, N.; Wong, A. K. C.; Muirhead, D.; Liu, H.; Banerjee, R.; Bazylak, A. Graded Microporous Layers for Enhanced Capillary-Driven Liquid Water Removal in Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Fuel Cells. *Adv. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *6* (21), 1901157.

(176) Chen, Y.; Singh, Y.; Ramani, D.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. 4D Imaging of Chemo-Mechanical Membrane Degradation in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells - Part 1: Understanding and Evading Edge Failures. *J. Power Sources* **2022**, *520*, No. 230674.

(177) Ramani, D.; Khattra, N. S.; Singh, Y.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Mitigation of Mechanical Membrane Degradation in Fuel Cells – Part 2: Bonded Membrane Electrode Assembly. *J. Power Sources* **2021**, *512*, 230431.

(178) Ramani, D.; Khattra, N. S.; Singh, Y.; Mohseni-Javid, A.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Mitigation of Mechanical Membrane Degradation in Fuel Cells – Part 1: Gas Diffusion Layers with Low Surface Roughness. *J. Power Sources* **2021**, *512*, 230446.

(179) Ramani, D.; Singh, Y.; White, R. T.; Haddow, T.; Wegener, M.; Orfino, F. P.; Ghassemzadeh, L.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Four-Dimensional in Situ Imaging of Chemical Membrane Degradation in Fuel Cells. *Electrochim. Acta* **2021**, *380*, 138194.

(180) Ramani, D.; Singh, Y.; White, R. T.; Wegener, M.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. 4D in Situ Visualization of Mechanical Degradation Evolution in Reinforced Fuel Cell Membranes. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2020**, *45* (16), 10089–10103.

(181) Singh, Y.; White, R. T.; Najm, M.; Boswell, A.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Mitigation of Mechanical Membrane Degradation in Fuel Cells by Controlling Electrode Morphology: A 4D In Situ Structural Characterization. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2021**, *168* (3), No. 034521.

(182) Stoll, J.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Four-Dimensional Identical-Location X-Ray Imaging of Fuel Cell Degradation during

Review

Start-Up/Shut-Down Cycling. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2021, 168 (2), No. 024516.

(183) Mularczyk, A.; Lin, Q.; Niblett, D.; Vasile, A.; Blunt, M. J.; Niasar, V.; Marone, F.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N.; Eller, J. Operando Liquid Pressure Determination in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13* (29), 34003–34011.

(184) Xu, H.; Nagashima, S.; Nguyen, H. P.; Kishita, K.; Marone, F.; Büchi, F. N.; Eller, J. Temperature Dependent Water Transport Mechanism in Gas Diffusion Layers Revealed by Subsecond Operando X-Ray Tomographic Microscopy. J. Power Sources 2021, 490, No. 229492.

(185) Xu, H.; Bührer, M.; Marone, F.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N.; Eller, J. Effects of Gas Diffusion Layer Substrates on PEFC Water Management: Part I. Operando Liquid Water Saturation and Gas Diffusion Properties. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2021**, *168* (7), No. 074505.

(186) Sabharwal, M.; Charalambous, M.; Dörenkamp, T.; Nagashima, S.; Marone, F.; Büchi, F. N.; Eller, J. Understanding the Effect of Feed Gas Humidity on the Freeze Start Behavior of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. J. Electrochem. Soc. **2021**, 168 (11), 114512.

(187) Sabharwal, M.; Büchi, F. N.; Nagashima, S.; Marone, F.; Eller, J. Investigation of the Transient Freeze Start Behavior of Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *J. Power Sources* **2021**, *489*, No. 229447.

(188) Kato, A.; Kato, S.; Yamaguchi, S.; Suzuki, T.; Nagai, Y. Mechanistic Insights into Water Transport in Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells with a Variation of Cell Temperature and Relative Humidity of Inlet Gas Elucidated by Operando Synchrotron X-Ray Radiography. J. Power Sources **2022**, 521, No. 230951.

(189) Bevilacqua, N.; George, M. G.; Galbiati, S.; Bazylak, A.; Zeis, R. Phosphoric Acid Invasion in High Temperature PEM Fuel Cell Gas Diffusion Layers. *Electrochim. Acta* **2017**, *257*, 89–98.

(190) Halter, J.; Bevilacqua, N.; Zeis, R.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. The Impact of the Catalyst Layer Structure on Phosphoric Acid Migration in HT-PEFC – An Operando X-Ray Tomographic Microscopy Study. J. Electroanal. Chem. **2020**, 859, No. 113832.

(191) Bailey, J. J.; Chen, J.; Hack, J.; Perez-Page, M.; Holmes, S. M.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R. Lab-Based X-Ray Micro-Computed Tomography Coupled with Machine-Learning Segmentation to Investigate Phosphoric Acid Leaching in High-Temperature Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells. *J. Power Sources* **2021**, *509*, No. 230347.

(192) Chen, J.; Bailey, J. J.; Britnell, L.; Perez-Page, M.; Sahoo, M.; Zhang, Z.; Strudwick, A.; Hack, J.; Guo, Z.; Ji, Z.; Martin, P.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R.; Holmes, S. M. The Performance and Durability of High-Temperature Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells Enhanced by Single-Layer Graphene. *Nano Energy* **2022**, *93*, No. 106829.

(193) White, R. T.; Ramani, D.; Eberhardt, S.; Najm, M.; Orfino, F. P.; Dutta, M.; Kjeang, E. Correlative X-Ray Tomographic Imaging of Catalyst Layer Degradation in Fuel Cells. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2019**, *166* (13), F914–F925.

(194) Carmo, M.; Fritz, D. L.; Mergel, J.; Stolten, D. A Comprehensive Review on PEM Water Electrolysis. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2013**, 38 (12), 4901–4934.

(195) Ayers, K.; Danilovic, N.; Harrison, K.; Xu, H. EM Electrolysis, a Forerunner for Clean Hydrogen. J. Electrochem. Soc. Interface 2021, 30, 67.

(196) Badgett, A.; Ruth, M.; Pivovar, B. Economic Considerations for Hydrogen Production with a Focus on Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Electrolysis; Elsevier B.V., 2022. DOI: 10.1016/b978-0-12-819424-9.00005-7.

(197) Schuler, T.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolysis: Correlating Performance and Porous Transport Layer Structure: Part II. Electrochemical Performance Analysis. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2019**, *166* (10), F555–F565.

(198) Schuler, T.; De Bruycker, R.; Schmidt, T. J.; Buchi, F. N. Polymer Electrolytewater Electrolysis: Correlating Porous Transport Layer Structural Properties and Performance: Part i. Tomographic Analysis of Morphology and Topology. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2019**, *166* (4), F270–F281. (199) Dedigama, I.; Angeli, P.; Ayers, K.; Robinson, J. B.; Shearing, P. R.; Tsaoulidis, D.; Brett, D. J. L. In Situ Diagnostic Techniques for Characterisation of Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Water Electrolysers – Flow Visualisation and Electrochemical Impedance Spectroscopy. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2014**, *39* (9), 4468–4482.

(200) Hoeh, M. A.; Arlt, T.; Kardjilov, N.; Manke, I.; Banhart, J.; Fritz, D. L.; Ehlert, J.; Lüke, W.; Lehnert, W. In-Operando Neutron Radiography Studies of Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Water Electrolyzers. *ECS Trans.* **2015**, *69* (17), 1135–1140.

(201) Lee, J. K.; Lee, C.; Fahy, K. F.; Kim, P. J.; LaManna, J. M.; Baltic, E.; Jacobson, D. L.; Hussey, D. S.; Stiber, S.; Gago, A. S.; Friedrich, K. A.; Bazylak, A. Spatially Graded Porous Transport Layers for Gas Evolving Electrochemical Energy Conversion: High Performance Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Electrolyzers. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2020**, *226*, No. 113545.

(202) Selamet, O. F.; Pasaogullari, U.; Spernjak, D.; Hussey, D. S.; Jacobson, D. L.; Mat, M. D. Two-Phase Flow in a Proton Exchange Membrane Electrolyzer Visualized in Situ by Simultaneous Neutron Radiography and Optical Imaging. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2013**, *38* (14), 5823–5835.

(203) Seweryn, J.; Biesdorf, J.; Schmidt, T. J.; Boillat, P. Communication - Neutron Radiography of the Water/Gas Distribution in the Porous Layers of an Operating Electrolyser. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2016**, *163* (11), F3009–F3011.

(204) Lettenmeier, P.; Kolb, S.; Sata, N.; Fallisch, A.; Zielke, L.; Thiele, S.; Gago, A. S.; Friedrich, K. A. Comprehensive Investigation of Novel Pore-Graded Gas Diffusion Layers for High-Performance and Cost-Effective Proton Exchange Membrane Electrolyzers. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2017**, *10* (12), 2521–2533.

(205) Leonard, E.; Shum, A. D.; Normile, S.; Sabarirajan, D. C.; Yared, D. G.; Xiao, X.; Zenyuk, I. V. Operando X-Ray Tomography and Sub-Second Radiography for Characterizing Transport in Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Electrolyzer. *Electrochim. Acta* **2018**, 276, 424–433.

(206) Savinell, R. F.; Zeller, R. L.; Adams, J. A. Electrochemically Active Surface Area: Voltammetric Charge Correlations for Ruthenium and Iridium Dioxide Electrodes. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **1990**, 137 (2), 489–494.

(207) Zhao, S.; Yu, H.; Maric, R.; Danilovic, N.; Capuano, C. B.; Ayers, K. E.; Mustain, W. E. Calculating the Electrochemically Active Surface Area of Iridium Oxide in Operating Proton Exchange Membrane Electrolyzers. J. Electrochem. Soc. **2015**, *162*, F1292.

(208) Schuler, T.; De Bruycker, R.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolysis: Correlating Porous Transport Layer Structural Properties and Performance: Part I. Tomographic Analysis of Morphology and Topology. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2019**, *166* (4), F270–F281.

(209) Lee, C.; Hinebaugh, J.; Banerjee, R.; Chevalier, S.; Abouatallah, R.; Wang, R.; Bazylak, A. Influence of Limiting Throat and Flow Regime on Oxygen Bubble Saturation of Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Electrolyzer Porous Transport Layers. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2017**, 42 (5), 2724–2735.

(210) Schuler, T.; Ciccone, J. M.; Krentscher, B.; Marone, F.; Peter, C.; Schmidt, T. J.; Büchi, F. N. Hierarchically Structured Porous Transport Layers for Polymer Electrolyte Water Electrolysis. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2020**, *10*, 1903216–1903228.

(211) Pletcher, D. The Cathodic Reduction of Carbon Dioxide— What Can It Realistically Achieve? *A Mini Review. Electrochem. commun.* **2015**, *61*, 97–101.

(212) Perry, S. C.; Leung, P.; Wang, L.; Ponce de León, C. Developments on Carbon Dioxide Reduction: Their Promise, Achievements, and Challenges. *Curr. Opin. Electrochem.* 2020, 20, 88–98.

(213) Rakowski Dubois, M.; Dubois, D. L. Development of Molecular Electrocatalysts for CO2 Reduction and H2 Production/ Oxidation. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2009**, *42* (12), 1974–1982.

(214) Verma, S.; Lu, S.; Kenis, P. J. A. Co-Electrolysis of  $CO_2$  and Glycerol as a Pathway to Carbon Chemicals with Improved

Technoeconomics Due to Low Electricity Consumption. Nat. Energy 2019, 4 (6), 466–474.

(215) Hoffmann, H.; Paulisch, M. C.; Gebhard, M.; Osiewacz, J.; Kutter, M.; Hilger, A.; Arlt, T.; Kardjilov, N.; Ellendorff, B.; Beckmann, F.; Markötter, H.; Luik, M.; Turek, T.; Manke, I.; Roth, C. Development of a Modular Operando Cell for X-Ray Imaging of Strongly Absorbing Silver-Based Gas Diffusion Electrodes. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2022**, *169* (4), No. 044508.

(216) Hoshi, N.; Kato, M.; Hori, Y. Electrochemical Reduction of CO2 on Single Crystal Electrodes of Silver Ag(111), Ag(100) and Ag(110). J. Electroanal. Chem. **1997**, 440 (1), 283–286.

(217) Hori, Y.; Kikuchi, K.; Murata, A.; Suzuki, S. PRODUCTION OF METHANE AND ETHYLENE IN ELECTROCHEMICAL REDUCTION OF CARBON DIOXIDE AT COPPER ELEC-TRODE IN AQUEOUS HYDROGENCARBONATE SOLUTION. *Chem. Lett.* **1986**, *15* (6), 897–898.

(218) Hori, Y.; Murata, A.; Takahashi, R. Formation of Hydrocarbons in the Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide at a Copper Electrode in Aqueous Solution. *J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans.* 1 *Phys. Chem. Condens. Phases* **1989**, *85* (8), 2309–2326.

(219) Rosen, B. A.; Salehi-Khojin, A.; Thorson, M. R.; Zhu, W.; Whipple, D. T.; Kenis, P. J. A.; Masel, R. I. Ionic Liquid–Mediated Selective Conversion of CO2 to CO at Low Overpotentials. *Science* (80-.) **2011**, 334 (6056), 643–644.

(220) Lu, Q.; Rosen, J.; Zhou, Y.; Hutchings, G. S.; Kimmel, Y. C.; Chen, J. G.; Jiao, F. A Selective and Efficient Electrocatalyst for Carbon Dioxide Reduction. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, 5 (1), 3242.

(221) Lan, Y.; Gai, C.; Kenis, P. J. A.; Lu, J. Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide on Cu/CuO Core/Shell Catalysts. *ChemElectroChem.* **2014**, *1* (9), 1577–1582.

(222) Dinh, C.-T.; Burdyny, T.; Kibria, M. G.; Seifitokaldani, A.; Gabardo, C. M.; García de Arquer, F. P.; Kiani, A.; Edwards, J. P.; De Luna, P.; Bushuyev, O. S.; Zou, C.; Quintero-Bermudez, R.; Pang, Y.; Sinton, D.; Sargent, E. H. CO2 Electroreduction to Ethylene via Hydroxide-Mediated Copper Catalysis at an Abrupt Interface. *Science* (80-.) **2018**, 360 (6390), 783–787.

(223) Ma, S.; Luo, R.; Gold, J. I.; Yu, A. Z.; Kim, B.; Kenis, P. J. A. Carbon Nanotube Containing Ag Catalyst Layers for Efficient and Selective Reduction of Carbon Dioxide. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2016**, *4* (22), 8573–8578.

(224) Ma, S.; Liu, J.; Sasaki, K.; Lyth, S. M.; Kenis, P. J. A. Carbon Foam Decorated with Silver Nanoparticles for Electrochemical CO2 Conversion. *Energy Technol.* **2017**, *5* (6), 861–863.

(225) Endrődi, B.; Kecsenovity, E.; Samu, A.; Darvas, F.; Török, V.; Jones, R. V.; Danyi, A.; Janáky, C. Multilayer Electrolyzer Stack Converts Carbon Dioxide to Gas Products at High Pressure with High Efficiency. ACS Energy Lett. **2019**, *4* (7), 1770–1777.

(226) Endrődi, B.; Bencsik, G.; Darvas, F.; Jones, R.; Rajeshwar, K.; Janáky, C. Continuous-Flow Electroreduction of Carbon Dioxide. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* 2017, 62, 133–154.

(227) Higgins, D.; Hahn, C.; Xiang, C.; Jaramillo, T. F.; Weber, A. Z. Gas-Diffusion Electrodes for Carbon Dioxide Reduction: A New Paradigm. ACS Energy Lett. **2019**, *4* (1), 317–324.

(228) Jeanty, P.; Scherer, C.; Magori, E.; Wiesner-Fleischer, K.; Hinrichsen, O.; Fleischer, M. Upscaling and Continuous Operation of Electrochemical CO2 to CO Conversion in Aqueous Solutions on Silver Gas Diffusion Electrodes. J. CO2 Util. **2018**, 24, 454–462.

(229) Leonard, M. E.; Clarke, L. E.; Forner-Cuenca, A.; Brown, S. M.; Brushett, F. R. Investigating Electrode Flooding in a Flowing Electrolyte, Gas-Fed Carbon Dioxide Electrolyzer. *ChemSusChem* **2020**, *13* (2), 400–411.

(230) Yang, K.; Kas, R.; Smith, W. A.; Burdyny, T. Role of the Carbon-Based Gas Diffusion Layer on Flooding in a Gas Diffusion Electrode Cell for Electrochemical CO2 Reduction. ACS Energy Lett. **2021**, 6 (1), 33–40.

(231) Paulisch, M. C.; Gebhard, M.; Franzen, D.; Hilger, A.; Osenberg, M.; Kardjilov, N.; Ellendorff, B.; Turek, T.; Roth, C.; Manke, I. Gas Diffusion Electrodes during Oxygen Reduction Reaction in Highly Alkaline Media. *Materials* (Basel). 2019, 12 (17), 2686.

(232) Paulisch, M. C.; Gebhard, M.; Franzen, D.; Hilger, A.; Osenberg, M.; Marathe, S.; Rau, C.; Ellendorff, B.; Turek, T.; Roth, C.; Manke, I. Operando Synchrotron Imaging of Electrolyte Distribution in Silver-Based Gas Diffusion Electrodes during Oxygen Reduction Reaction in Highly Alkaline Media. *ACS Appl. Energy Mater.* 2021, 4 (8), 7497–7503.

(233) Kenis, P. J.; Jhong, M.; Brushett, F. Structural Analysis of the Catalyst Layer and the Electrode Structure Using X-Ray Tomography. *ECS Meet. Abstr.* **2011**, *MA2011-01* (11), 632–632.

(234) Cofell, E. R.; Nwabara, U. O.; Bhargava, S. S.; Henckel, D. E.; Kenis, P. J. A. Investigation of Electrolyte-Dependent Carbonate Formation on Gas Diffusion Electrodes for CO2 Electrolysis. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13* (13), 15132–15142.

(235) Jhong, H. R.; Nwabara, U. O.; Shubert-Zuleta, S.; Grundish, N. S.; Tandon, B.; Reimnitz, L. C.; Staller, C. M.; Ong, G. K.; Saez Cabezas, C. A.; Goodenough, J. B.; Kenis, P. J. A.; Milliron, D. J. Efficient Aqueous Electroreduction of CO2 to Formate at Low Overpotential on Indium Tin Oxide Nanocrystals. *Chem. Mater.* **2021**, 33 (19), 7675–7685.

(236) Lee, C. H.; Zhao, B.; Lee, J. K.; Fahy, K. F.; Krause, K.; Bazylak, A. Bubble Formation in the Electrolyte Triggers Voltage Instability in CO2 Electrolyzers. *iScience* **2020**, *23* (5), No. 101094. (237) Zhang, D.; Forner-Cuenca, A.; Taiwo, O. O.; Yufit, V.; Brushett, F. R.; Brandon, N. P.; Gu, S.; Cai, Q. Understanding the

Role of the Porous Electrode Microstructure in Redox Flow Battery Performance Using an Experimentally Validated 3D Pore-Scale Lattice Boltzmann Model. *J. Power Sources* **2020**, 447, No. 227249. (238) Fetyan, A.; Schneider, J.; Schnucklake, M.; El-Nagar, G. A.;

(258) Fetyan, A.; Schneider, J.; Schnucklake, M.; El-Nagar, G. A.; Banerjee, R.; Bevilacqua, N.; Zeis, R.; Roth, C. Comparison of Electrospun Carbon–Carbon Composite and Commercial Felt for Their Activity and Electrolyte Utilization in Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries. *ChemElectroChem.* **2019**, *6* (1), 130–135.

(239) Jervis, R.; Kok, M. D. R.; Montagut, J.; Gostick, J. T.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R. X-Ray Nano Computed Tomography of Electrospun Fibrous Mats as Flow Battery Electrodes. *Energy Technol.* **2018**, *6* (12), 2488–2500.

(240) Gebhard, M.; Schnucklake, M.; Hilger, A.; Röhe, M.; Osenberg, M.; Krewer, U.; Manke, I.; Roth, C. X-Ray-Computed Radiography and Tomography Study of Electrolyte Invasion and Distribution inside Pristine and Heat-Treated Carbon Felts for Redox Flow Batteries. *Energy Technol.* **2020**, *8* (3), 1901214.

(241) Arenas, L. F.; Ponce de León, C.; Walsh, F. C. Redox Flow Batteries for Energy Storage: Their Promise, Achievements and Challenges. *Curr. Opin. Electrochem.* **2019**, *16*, 117–126.

(242) Banerjee, R.; Bevilacqua, N.; Mohseninia, A.; Wiedemann, B.; Wilhelm, F.; Scholta, J.; Zeis, R. Carbon Felt Electrodes for Redox Flow Battery: Impact of Compression on Transport Properties. *J. Energy Storage* **2019**, *26*, No. 100997.

(243) Jervis, R.; Kok, M. D. R.; Neville, T. P.; Meyer, Q.; Brown, L. D.; Iacoviello, F.; Gostick, J. T.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R. In Situ Compression and X-Ray Computed Tomography of Flow Battery Electrodes. *J. Energy Chem.* **2018**, *27* (5), 1353–1361.

(244) Maggiolo, D.; Zanini, F.; Picano, F.; Trovò, A.; Carmignato, S.; Guarnieri, M. Particle Based Method and X-Ray Computed Tomography for Pore-Scale Flow Characterization in VRFB Electrodes. *Energy Storage Mater.* **2019**, *16*, 91–96.

(245) Kok, M. D. R.; Jervis, R.; Tranter, T. G.; Sadeghi, M. A.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R.; Gostick, J. T. Mass Transfer in Fibrous Media with Varying Anisotropy for Flow Battery Electrodes: Direct Numerical Simulations with 3D X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2019**, *196*, 104–115.

(246) Wen, Y.; Jervis, R. New Strategies for Interrogation of Redox Flow Batteries via Synchrotron Radiation. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng.* **2022**, 37, No. 100836.

(247) Trogadas, P.; Taiwo, O. O.; Tjaden, B.; Neville, T. P.; Yun, S.; Parrondo, J.; Ramani, V.; Coppens, M. O.; Brett, D. J. L.; Shearing, P. R. X-Ray Micro-Tomography as a Diagnostic Tool for the Electrode Degradation in Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries. *Electrochem. commun.* **2014**, *48*, 155–159.

(248) Qiu, G.; Dennison, C. R.; Knehr, K. W.; Kumbur, E. C.; Sun, Y. Pore-Scale Analysis of Effects of Electrode Morphology and Electrolyte Flow Conditions on Performance of Vanadium Redox Flow Batteries. *J. Power Sources* **2012**, *219*, 223–234.

(249) Satjaritanun, P.; Hirano, S.; Shum, A. D.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Weber, A. Z.; Weidner, J. W.; Shimpalee, S. Fundamental Understanding of Water Movement in Gas Diffusion Layer under Different Arrangements Using Combination of Direct Modeling and Experimental Visualization. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2018**, *165* (13), F1115– F1126.

(250) Sepe, M.; Satjaritanun, P.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Tippayawong, N.; Shimpalee, S. The Impact of Micro Porous Layer on Liquid Water Evolution inside PEMFC Using Lattice Boltzmann Method. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2021**, *168* (7), No. 074507.

(251) Sepe, M.; Satjaritanun, P.; Hirano, S.; Zenyuk, I. V.; Tippayawong, N.; Shimpalee, S. Investigating Liquid Water Transport in Different Pore Structure of Gas Diffusion Layers for PEMFC Using Lattice Boltzmann Method. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2020**, *167* (10), 104516.

(252) Sepe, M.; Lopata, J. S.; Madkour, S.; Mayerhoefer, B.; Ciesielski, A.; Shimaplee, S.; et al. Abstract #F02-1660, 243rd ECS Meeting; 2023.

(253) Litster, S.; Hess, K.; Epting, W.; Gelb, J. Catalyst Layer Analysis: Nanoscale X-Ray CT, Spatially-Resolved In Situ Microscale Diagnostics, and Modeling. *ECS Meet. Abstr.* **2011**, *MA2011-02* (16), 822–822.

(254) Marone, F.; Studer, A.; Billich, H.; Sala, L.; Stampanoni, M. Towards On-the-Fly Data Post-Processing for Real-Time Tomographic Imaging at TOMCAT. *Adv. Struct. Chem. Imaging* **2017**, 3 (1), 1–11.

(255) Mamyrbayev, T.; Opolka, A.; Ershov, A.; Gutekunst, J.; Meyer, P.; Ikematsu, K.; Momose, A.; Last, A. Development of an Array of Compound Refractive Lenses for Sub-Pixel Resolution, Large Field of View, and Time-Saving in Scanning Hard x-Ray Microscopy. *Appl. Sci.* **2020**, *10* (12), 4132.

(256) da Silva, J. C.; Pacureanu, A.; Yang, Y.; Fus, F.; Hubert, M.; Bloch, L.; Salome, M.; Bohic, S.; Cloetens, P. High-Energy Cryo x-Ray Nano-Imaging at the ID16A Beamline of ESRF. X-Ray Nanoimaging: Instruments and Methods III **2017**, 103890F DOI: 10.1117/12.2275739.